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Ethical Investment Policy
Our policy provides a set of 
principles, looking forward to  
the type of world which we  
want to promote through our 
investments; intentionally investing 
in line with our fundamental  
ideals; supporting policies and 
initiatives in companies that 
promote the values of Catholic 
Social Thought while still  
earning a just and sufficient  
return to help fund our works.  
Our policy is also informed by  
the UK Stewardship Code of  
the Financial Reporting Council,  
which promotes seven helpful 
principles for institutional investors. 
The Trustees work to uphold  
the United Nations Principles for 
Responsible Investment within 
which institutional investors pledge 
to incorporate environmental, social 
and governance issues into investment 
decision-making processes, being 
active owners across different types 
of assets.

We do not invest in companies whose 
products or policies are counter to 
the values of Catholic moral teaching. 
Our investment managers screen  
our portfolios (using agencies such  
as EIRIS) to eliminate such stocks.  
The threshold limits, for what we  
hold in certain stocks, were reviewed 
and revised in 2018.

The trustees are active members  
of the Church Investors Group, the 
Institutional Investors Group on 
Climate Change, the UK Sustainable 
Investment and Finance Association  
and the Charities Responsible Investment 
Network of ShareAction, all of which 
promote shareholder engagement.

We support practical steps to further 
the goals of the Paris agreement 
(COP21 2015) on climate change: 
restricting the use of fossil fuels; 
reviewing the carbon footprints of all 
our investment portfolios with a view 
to minimising them; surveying Jesuit 
works and communities, especially 

their properties, with a view to 
minimising wasteful use of energy 
and promoting green energy.

The UK Living Wage
The Jesuits in Britain are an 
accredited Living Wage employer. 
The Living Wage campaign is based 
on the simple idea that a hard 
day’s work deserves a fair day’s 
pay. We are pleased to be one of 
many responsible employers who 
choose to pay a real Living Wage 
based on the cost of living, not just 
the government minimum. The 
trustees recognise that in low paid 
sectors a vicious cycle of high levels 
of staff turnover and absenteeism 
can drive problems of operational 
inefficiency, low standards and weak 
productivity. Organisations that 
pay the Living Wage have reported 
significant improvements in quality 
of work, reductions in staff absence 
and turnover, and a stronger 
corporate reputation.
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Provincial’s Message

“Setting up centres of formation for evangelization, aimed at the young and by an integral experience 
that will conclude with sending them on mission” Youth Synod 2018 final document

IT IS FAIR to say that the year 2017-18 
was a turbulent one. The world at large 
saw the continued rise of populism and 
even hatred, with institutions which 
have preserved the post-war order 
coming under immense pressure. The 
refugee crisis continued, inequality 
grew, the world economy looked 

Rather than submit to the 
discouragement created by the media’s 
obsessive concentration on bad news, 
Jesuits and their partners try to live 
consciously in the presence of God. 
They remember all that God has  
done for them and still is doing in  
His creation. Above all, they daily 
contemplate the life of Jesus Christ and 
seek to imitate Him in the way they 
live their lives. That’s why you will find 
in the pages of this report plenty of 
evidence of a passionate commitment 
to continue to work for the coming  
of God’s Kingdom, even in the face of 
apparently insurmountable obstacles.

The project I am proudest of so far  
is the setting up of the Laudato Si’ 
Research Institute at Campion Hall, 
Oxford. We are delighted that 
Professor Celia Deane-Drummond  
has agreed to join us to continue her 
work in ecological theology and to  

increasingly fragile and environmental 
disaster seemed inevitable. In the 
Church, deeper awareness of the gravity 
and extent of abuse led to widespread 
controversy and even division. 

As a Church and as an order, we are 
blessed to have the leadership and 
inspiration of Pope Francis to guide us 
in difficult times. He calls for refugees 
to be welcomed, for help to be given 
to the poorest, a new attitude of care 
for all creation. He has asked the 
whole Church to nurture a culture  
of safeguarding. In the Autumn of 2018 
he hosted a ground-breaking Synod for 
young people which changed the way 
the Catholic Church thinks about the 
new generation. And already he has  
his sights on a Synod on the Amazon 
Basin in 2019 as an opportunity to  
shed light on the lives of people whose 
threatened habitat is a region crucial 
for the survival of all human life.

Pope Francis at the Youth Synod 2018

Fr Damian Howard SJ
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help the worldwide Church to deepen 
its commitment to “caring for our 
common home”, as Pope Francis  
puts it. The work of the Institute will 
complement and enrich other Catholic 
theological projects going on around 
Britain and will network widely with 
partner institutions at home and abroad.

Finding a home for the Heythrop 
Library was a major task for 2018.  
We chose to keep it in situ, hosted by 
the University of London at its Senate 
House in Bloomsbury. There it will 
remain available to the academy and  
to the Church in this country. We will 
keep the collection up to date so that 
it continues to be a precious resource 
for all those seeking to explore the 
disciplines of theology and philosophy.

The Synod for young people was a 
stimulus for the whole Church to 
renew its efforts to find new ways to 
pass on the Gospel message to a new 
generation. The final document calls 
for an enhancement of the Church’s 
pastoral provision “by setting up 
centres of formation for evangelization, 
aimed at the young and at young 
couples and by an integral experience 
that will conclude with sending them 
on mission” (160). We are also 

encouraged to “offer the young an 
experience of accompaniment with  
a view to discernment” (161). These 
goals are the heart of our plans for 
new projects in Clapham and Mount 
Street, two houses in London to be 
devoted to the integral formation of 
young people. We want to build solidly 
and to reflect carefully on our aims  
and the means required to meet them.  
To that end, 2018 saw several groups 
doing research into this challenging 
question and I look forward to that 
process starting to bear fruit.

I have made a point of talking about 
safeguarding to Jesuit communities as  
I travel round the country. It is true 
 to say that a great deal has changed 
over the last two decades in the way 
we take care of children and adults  
at risk. But some still haven’t fully 
registered the crucial insight that 

keeping people safe goes to the very 
heart of the Gospel mission. It is not 
an add-on, and never a burden. Aided 
and supported by an independent 
Safeguarding Commission, the  
Jesuits in Britain are consequently 
looking for ways to keep people  
safe and to try to put right any harm 
committed in the past. Over the  
last few years, we have been planning  
a pilot project to reach out to victim-
survivors of abuse. It is a delicate  
issue and the project will have to be 
carried out with great care. But we  
are now close to launching it. It will,  
I hope, be a source of healing but  
also of learning.

I hope you will find in the contents  
of this report some light in dark times. 
We are grateful above all to our many 
friends and supporters who help us to 
keep that light alive. l

Senate House Library

PROVINCIAL’S MESSAGE
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Jesuits in Britain  
mission and aims

The Jesuits (also known as the Society of Jesus) are an international religious order of men within  
the Catholic Church. The Order was founded in 1540 by St Ignatius of Loyola and his nine 

companions. Today it numbers over 15,000 men in more than 100 countries. The British Province, 
which operates in England, Scotland and Wales is one of over 80 provinces worldwide.

OUR MISSION today is the ministry  
of reconciliation with God, with one 
another and with creation.

Our aims are to:
•  Promote discernment and the 

Spiritual Exercises of St Ignatius
•  Walk with the excluded 
•  Care for our “common home”,  

God’s Creation
• Journey with young people.

We do this through:
•  Parish ministry – in parish 

communities and university 
chaplaincies

•  Education – institutions at primary, 
secondary and tertiary levels

•  Formation – of priests, religious  
and lay people

•  Social justice and the relief of poverty 
– running the Jesuit Refugee Service, 
reaching out to the marginalised and 
to indigenous people

• Care of elderly and infirm members
•  Spirituality – Giving retreats and 

spiritual direction in spirituality 
centres, parishes, chaplaincies  
and online

•  Work overseas – missioning  
men, funding projects, and  
running Jesuit Missions

For a breakdown of how we allocated 
resources to our work during 2017-18 
please see page 21-23.

Our People
As at 30th September 2018, there  
were 129 Jesuits in Britain

There are currently fourteen Jesuit 
communities in Britain, as follows:
•  Birmingham
•  Boscombe (Dorset)
•  London (6)
•  Manchester
•  Oxford
•  Preston
•  St Asaph (Denbigh)
•  Edinburgh
•  Glasgow

Employees 
The Jesuits in Britain rely on the skills, 
knowledge and contribution of 360 lay 
staff dedicated to helping deliver our 
mission. For a number of years, the 
Jesuits in Britain have been committed 
to paying all of their directly employed 
staff the UK Living Wage. Jesuits in 
Britain is an accredited employer with 
the Living Wage Foundation. 

Provincial office 25

Pastoral and social justice 56

Spirituality centres 44

Schools – academic 118

Schools – administration 
and support staff

117

Total 360

 Numbers of employees

Trustees as at 13th April 2019
• Nicholas Austin SJ 
• Roger Dawson SJ
•  Damian Howard SJ  

(Provincial and Chairman)
• Kensy Joseph SJ 
• Paul Nicholson SJ (Socius)
• Matthew Power SJ  
•  Stephen Power SJ  

(Treasurer and Secretary)
• Dermot O’Connor SJ
• David Smolira SJ

MISSION AND AIMS
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Reconciliation with God, with 
Creation, with each other 

In response to the Pope’s call for a new attitude of care for all creation, the Jesuits in Britain  
are driving forward new initiatives combining academic research, teaching and learning to help  

the worldwide Church to deepen its commitment.

A new research institute
The new Laudato Si’ Research Institute 
(LSRI) to be housed at Campion Hall, 
Oxford, will provide a research 
platform for projects relevant to the 
agenda set out in Pope Francis’s 
encyclical Laudato Si’. LSRI’s mission  
is to generate multidisciplinary research 
projects relevant to the concerns of 
Laudato Si’ at the intersection of the 
natural and social sciences, theology, 
ethics and philosophy.

As a ministry of the Jesuits in Britain, 
the LSRI will have the Ignatian tradition 
as a defining element of its research 

identity, while being open to insights 
from other faith traditions, including 
indigenous traditions. 

It will support scholarship that can 
inform the practical ministries and 
projects, both present and future,  
of the Society of Jesus, in Britain and 
worldwide, while collaborating with 
other religious and secular traditions 
working on these themes. In the spirit 
of Laudato Si’ it will pay particular 
attention to the insights of those most 
marginalised, on such crucial issues as 
the sustainable development goals, and 
international climate agreements.

With its partners it will seek to 
become a public voice of Catholic 
scholarship at global level. Celia 
Deane-Drummond, Professor of 
Theology at the University of Notre 
Dame, Indiana, was appointed Director 
Designate in July 2018 and will take  
up her post full time in July 2019.

A new education centre
The Jesuit house at 114 Mount St in 
central London is becoming the site  
of a new centre for educational and 
formational opportunities in spirituality, 
theology and social justice for the young 
adult age group (18-35). The inspiration 
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for this work will be the teaching of 
Pope Francis, in his encyclical Laudato 
Si’ and elsewhere. The recent Synod in 
Rome on Young People highlighted the 
needs of this age group. 

In 2018 a feasibility study was 
undertaken to consider how best  
to use the buildings on this site, which 
include Farm Street Church, the  
Curia offices and a Jesuit community,  
in order to offer more extensive 
programmes, building on the excellent 
programme of the existing Mount 

Street Jesuit Centre in spirituality, 
theology and social justice. 

From September 2019 we will add a 
programme of courses and events at a 
more advanced level delivered both face 
to face and online. In particular, we have 
been in negotiation throughout the year 
with Roehampton University and will be 
launching an MA in “Theology, Ecology 
and Ethics” as a flagship part of this 
programme. A new library is being 
created to support the programmes. 
From September 2020 these initiatives 

With the closure of Heythrop 
College after the summer of  
2018, a new home was needed  
for its library. Comprising around 
250,000 volumes, it is widely 
regarded as one of the finest 
libraries of philosophy and theology 
in the country. 

The Jesuits in Britain were keen to 
ensure that the collection remained 
available to students, seminarians, 
teachers and researchers and with 
this in view discussions began in 
January 2018 with a view to forming 

a partnership with the Senate House 
Library of the University of London. 
Agreement was reached in the summer 
and the books were removed to the 
University’s depository. Meanwhile, the 
catalogue of the pre-1900 collection, 
which was on index cards alone, was 
digitised, making the entire Heythrop 
collection searchable online for the 
first time. 

The partnership with Senate House 
Library was launched in October 2018 
when anyone entitled to borrow from 
the Library could search the Heythrop 

catalogue and order a book. The 
Heythrop Library remains in the 
ownership of the Jesuits in Britain  
and is managed by the Heythrop 
Librarian and an assistant from  
their office at Mount Street. The 
collection, which includes runs  
of periodicals some of which are  
unique in the UK, is maintained  
up to date. 

Bursaries are available to former 
students and staff of Heythrop College 
to defray the cost of Senate House 
Library membership.

The future of Heythrop Library

will together form a new centre at 
Mount Street which will be provisionally 
known as the “London Jesuit Centre”. 

Building work and market research  
are both in progress to ensure we  
are meeting identified needs. 

A new ministry for  
young people
With a new focus on a more integrated 
approach to the support and formation 
of young Catholic adults, the Provincial 
has missioned a new Delegate for 
Ministry to Young People, Fr James 
Conway SJ, who returned from five 
years’ ministry in Guyana in May 2018 
and professed his final vows in June 
(see p17). Fr James has also taken on 
the role of Vocations Promoter.

He, Fr Dushan Croos SJ and Ms Ruth 
Holgate, our Jesuit Associate, took  
up residence in the Jesuit house in 
Clapham during the summer of 2018. 
They have already started to devise  
new programmes for young Catholics 
to explore the intersection of 
theology, ecology and spirituality  
and how this might inform their  
faith. The team also animates the 
Young Adults’ Sunday Mass at Farm  
Street Church, and helps form the 
Catholic Bishops’ Conference Faith  
and Justice interns. They are also 
responsible for collaborating with 
other Ignatian religious orders on 
Mag+s 2019, an international Ignatian 
young adults formation initiative. l

Fauziah Iskander and Michael Morgan set up the new working library at Mount Street

IGNATIAN FORMATION
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Jesuit Refugee Service UK

The Jesuit Refugee Service (JRS) works around the world to accompany, to serve  
as companions, and to advocate for the rights of refugees and forcibly displaced people.

JRS IN THE UK has a special ministry 
to work with people who have been 
detained in immigration detention, or 
people who have been made destitute 
by the asylum process in the UK. 
These are among the most excluded 
groups in society today.

Accompanying destitute 
refugees and asylum seekers: 
The JRS UK Day Centre
Each week our Day Centre offers 
hospitality to around 100 destitute 
refugees, where relationships and 
friendships act as a counter-culture 
to the hostility they otherwise face.

The refugees who attend our Day 
Centre are destitute. They are not 
eligible to claim benefits and are 
prohibited from working, sometimes 
for many years. In addition to significant 

physical hardship, prolonged destitution 
leads to isolation and anxiety.

Our staff and dedicated volunteers 
provide practical support and 
emotional accompaniment. The Day 
Centre provides an arena for us to 
understand more closely the needs 
of our refugee friends and where we 
can begin to break down some of the 
isolation they feel. Spring boarding 

from the Day Centre, we offer 
activities to build skills, confidence 
and develop a sense of community.

A highlight this year was our drama 
group and Gospel choir performing 
at the inaugural JRS carol service in 
December. It was wonderful to witness 
the pure joy and satisfaction on our 
friends’ faces as they performed in front 
of an audience. The carol service was 
an incredible way to celebrate Christ’s 
coming and offered a unique platform 
where our friends’ unique gifts and 
voices were recognized and cherished.

Our At Home hosting scheme 
continues to grow, offering short-term 
placements for refugees who would 
otherwise be street-homeless or  
in exceptionally precarious living 
arrangements. Over the past year 

JRS UK first carol service at Farm St Church December 2017

“Despite, having a stressful 
life … I start to feel happy 
and extremely relax[ed] 

whenever I walk into the 
centre on Thursdays.” 

A refugee friend of JRS

JESUIT REFUGEE SERVICE
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12,070

Weekly £10 
travel grants

Over 2,000 toiletry packs  
given to our friends

345 friends registered  
at the Day Centre from  
52 different countries

55 new friends registered at the 
Day Centre during the year

Cardinal Vincent Nichols visits the day centreA warm welcome at the day centre

Bed nights through 
At Home

2,729

“When I talk to you guys,  
I feel at peace. This detention, 
it’s bad... but at least I found 

good people. This is one 
thing I look forward to.” 

Refugee friend of JRS, 

detained 11 months

At Home hosts and 
15 at home guests

15

15 communities of hospitality have been 
created, with a mixture of religious 
communities, parishes, and lay people 
opening their homes to refugees.

Serving as companions  
in immigration detention
Each week our detention outreach 
team offers pastoral care to men held 
indefinitely at two detention centres. 
Indefinite detention is a deeply isolating 
experience and can cause high levels of 
anxiety. We have a number of volunteers 
with specialist languages, in particular 
Chinese and Vietnamese. For some of 
the men, meeting JRS volunteers has 
been the first time they have been able 
to express themselves in their own 
language. The time our volunteers offer 
to listen and share is invaluable, and can 
be deeply transformative.

Over the past twelve months the team 
– a mixture of staff and volunteers – 
provided ongoing support and 
accompaniment to 191 men, and 
companionship through informal 
conversations to around 300 men. 
Relationships are formed over 
weeks and months that people are 
in detention.

Advocating for the rights  
of refugees
One of the major highlights of the  
year was our refugee week conference, 
‘Refugee Stories: Changing the 
Narrative’, which grounded theology  
in refugee experience. Cecile powerfully 
shared her experiences of seeking 
asylum in the UK, including moving 
from place to place and being made 
homeless on a number of occasions.

Homelessness is a daily reality for our 
refugee friends, the extent of which 
was highlighted in our research report, 
‘Out in the Cold’. Primary research 
conducted by JRS found that 62% of 
refugees and people seeking asylum 
have been street homeless in the last 
12 months. The report was launched 
on Homeless Sunday. l

Over 450 people 
accompanied  
in detention

JESUIT REFUGEE SERVICE
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The Jesuit Institute

The Jesuit Institute has created a recognizable brand which those working in  
our schools associate with personal and professional formation to help them sustain  

the Jesuit mission of their schools. There are eleven Jesuit schools in Britain.

THE JESUIT INSTITUTE has been 
given three apostolic priorities by  
the Provincial:

1  To provide a programme of 
formation for members of staff 
joining our schools.

2  To build up a network for the 
ongoing formation of the key  
players in Jesuit schools.

3  To be of service to the wider  
Church in its mission in schools.

In the past year, around 300 teachers 
and support staff have taken part in  
the Shared Vision programme, gaining a 
better understanding of the distinctive 
Ignatian identity and mission of Jesuit 
schools. There are four levels:

 Induction – five 1½ hour sessions, 
delivered in school, introduces new 
staff to the story of Ignatius and to  
the vision of Jesuit schools today.

1 – two-day residential conference  
for staff in their second or third years 
in a Jesuit school encouraging them  
to become more familiar with the 
worldwide network and vision for 
Jesuit education.

 2 – two-day residential conference for 
teachers and teaching assistants which 
introduces them to the Jesuit method 
of teaching and learning.

3 – trains experienced staff to  
deliver Shared Vision Induction  
in their own schools.

The Jesuit Pupil Profile, an articulation 
of the virtues and values Jesuit schools 
seek to ‘grow’ in their pupils, has been 
adopted by all 85 Catholic schools in 
the Diocese of Cardiff and 190 schools 
in the Diocese of Birmingham. The 
Jesuit Institute has provided training 
for governors, heads and teachers in 
the use of the JPP.

The Jesuit Institute has encouraged 
schools to discuss the action points 
which emerged from the Rio Congress 
in October 2017. This was the first 
meeting at which all 2,326 Jesuit schools 
worldwide were represented and which 
was responding to Fr General’s challenge 
to make this extraordinary international 
network more effective in improving 
living and learning for the greater glory 
of God and the common good. 

The Rio delegates invited the schools 
to ensure the Examen was embedded 

into the school day. All of the UK’s 
Jesuit schools are making the Examen 
part of the school day in order to  
pass on to the next generations an 
extraordinarily powerful spiritual 
exercise from our Ignatian heritage.

Each year, the Jesuit Institute hosts 
residential conferences for the Heads 
(twice a year), Chaplains (three times a 
year), Heads of RE, Deputy Heads, and 
Chairs of Governors. These people are 
key to the future of Jesuit education and 
the deepening of the schools’ Jesuit 
identity and mission and so their 
continued formation and support 
remains a priority. 

Support of the lay school chaplains  
is a key focus. The Jesuit Institute has 
developed a model which serves as a 
blueprint for successful chaplaincy in the 
school context. The termly residential 
conferences for the chaplains, now held 
in association with the Loreto schools, 
provide an opportunity to share good 
practice and resources. l

Head teachers’ conference 2017

8  conferences 
for staff 

300  
 staff members 
attended Shared 
Vision training 

300+
   schools using 

the Jesuit  
Pupil Profile

2  conferences  
for students 

EDUCATION Jesuit Institute
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St Ignatius College – “a school 
where you really want to be”

St Ignatius College has been transformed by recent investment.

ST IGNATIUS COLLEGE in Enfield has 
benefited from £4.5 million investment 
from the Jesuits in Britain since 2015, 
which has improved teaching and 
learning, as well as the pastoral, 
emotional and spiritual well-being of 
pupils. Head Teacher Mary O’Keefe 
explains: “Some parts of the school 
building hadn’t been upgraded since  
the 1960s and 1970s. Classrooms  
were dark, scruffy and unventilated,  
we had few high-tech teaching aids 
such as whiteboards, and some of  
the changing rooms were in an awful 
state. As a result of the investment  
we have seen improvements in terms 
of children’s self-confidence, with  
a stimulating environment more 
conducive to learning. We no longer 
have a litter problem.”

Older pupils who remember the 
school before the refurbishment 
commented, “I avoided the 
cloakrooms, you just didn’t want to go 
in there”. A member of the St Ignatius 
rugby team observed, “before the 
changing rooms were done up, visiting 
schools would walk in and think we 
must be a rubbish team. Now we can 
take more pride in our school which 
gives a better energy to our game.”

Another benefit of improved changing 
facilities is a much greater use of the 
school pool. “Previously primary heads 
asked about using the pool, but they 
would change their minds when they 
saw the changing rooms. Now we  
have clubs using the pool every night 
of the week and four local primaries 
regularly swimming here. It is great 
for them as they can walk instead of 
getting a coach, and it is great for our 

marketing and outreach in the local 
community,” says Mrs O’Keefe.

The learning support hub has  
benefited from a complete refit. 
Librarian Grace Pastore said “the 
library is more welcoming, the chairs 
are comfortable, the lay out is better, 
the boys like the bean bags and take 
books to read in corners. The library  
is always full now.”

The student support services have all 
been brought together in a comfortable 
and accessible centre which feels like 
a much happier place, as Mrs O’Keefe 
describes: “this so important for 
pastoral services like the chaplaincy  
and learning support, behaviour support 
and parental outreach, our bereavement 
and parental separation support groups. 
They can work much more effectively 
together. As a school community we 

have huge needs arising from poverty 
which we are now better placed 
to meet.”

The science labs were another area 
where investment reaped good fruit. 
Head of Science Brad Cassidy, who 
was involved in the new lab design, 
said, “Having the more flexible lab 
layout has transformed the ways  
we teach. We can adapt the room  
to the learning needs of each group.” 
Chemistry A level student Louis 
agrees, “it is better for demonstrations 
and experiments. Not everyone has 
to do the same thing at the same 
time, lessons are more varied and 
interesting, so it is easier to learn.”

Sixth formers Callum and Patrick 
summed up the impact of the 
improvements: “now the school is 
somewhere you really want to be.” l

Grace Pastore with students in the new library

St Ignatius College EDUCATION
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Jesuit Missions 
Compassion in Action

Jesuit Missions continues to work with many of the most vulnerable people in the world.

IN 2017/2018 JESUIT Missions 
developed new relationships particularly 
focused on supporting the quality of 
education and access to education. 
Working with Fe y Alegria in the 
Democratic Republic of Congo Jesuit 
Missions assisted 24 primary schools, 
reaching over 13,000 students. In 
another new area of work Jesuit 
Missions has developed educational 
projects in Northern Nigeria alongside 
local partners. 

In August 2018, Jesuit Missions 
responded to the Kerala floods 
working with the local Jesuits  
to provide emergency support to meet 
the immediate needs of those affected. 
Elsewhere in India, Jesuit Missions 

When the Jesuits in Britain sold their 
treasured St Cuthbert’s Gospel to the 
British Library in 2010, a significant 
portion of the proceeds were given  
to inaugurate construction of Loyola 
Jesuit Secondary School (LJSS) in 
Kasungu, Malawi.

The gift enabled the Jesuits of the 
Zambia-Malawi Province to get 
underway a campaign to secure 
additional support from the 
Government of Malawi and many 
church groups, foundations and 
individual donors. The coeducational 
boarding school was opened in 2015.  
It strives to be a ‘green school’ built 
using soil-based bricks, and all the 

Focus on Loyola Jesuit Secondary School, Malawi
furniture is built using wood from 
sustainable tree plots.

Current enrolment in its four forms  
is 245 girls and 241 boys. In a country 
where fewer than 30% of all youth 
attend secondary school (less than  
25% of girls), and in a poor rural  
area, where proportions of those  
not attending school were even higher, 
LJSS makes a small but substantial 
contribution to outcomes. Teachers’ 
salaries are paid by the government  
so fees are low, making the school 
accessible to families on low incomes.

Especially important is education of girls. 
A girl who graduates from secondary 

school will marry later, have fewer 
children, more of her children will 
survive, more will attend school, and she 
will play a role in the local community.

In July 2019 the school will celebrate its 
first graduation of 49 girls and 48 boys.

Peter Henriot SJ, LJSS Development 
Director says “LJSS staff, Jesuit and lay, 
join our learners in expressing prayerful 
appreciation for the faithful support of 
so many benefactors that makes possible 
the overall effort of our school.”

Jesuit Missions continues to support 
LJSS, currently fundraising to complete 
the school chapel. l

Fe Y Alegria School DRC

JESUIT MISSIONS
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supported a women’s para-legal 
empowerment programme.

Jesuit Missions sent four volunteers 
overseas during this year to put their 
faith into action. Rebecca Wall and 
Matthew Steen taught at St Ignatius 
primary school in Tanzania for six 
months while Matthew Whalley 
travelled to India where he also 
taught English for six months at St 
Xavier’s College in Jharkhand. Laura 

Flood damage in Kerala

Loyola Jesuit Secondary School, whole school picture in front of the chapel under construction

Brennen spent a month in Kyrgyzstan 
supporting a children’s summer camp.

Director of Jesuit Missions Paul Chitnis 
says, “It is a privilege for all of us at 
Jesuit Missions to be able to work 
with so many Jesuits and their lay 
collaborators in different parts of  
the world. In their diverse ways, all  
are working to bring the good news  
to the poor and marginalised wherever 
they may be.” l

£40,000
raised in second 

Christmas Appeal

£64,000
raised by the 2018 

London Marathon team

>£450,000
spent on international 

projects

£480,000
received in voluntary 

donations

JESUIT MISSIONS
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Pastoral Report

The change of parish priests in six of the ten parishes served by the  
Jesuits in Britain has resulted in a flurry of activity and renewed energy.

IN FOUR of the Jesuit parishes,  
St Ignatius, Stamford Hill London, 
Sacred Heart, Edinburgh, St Peter’s 
Stonyhurst and St Wilfrid’s, Preston 
the new incumbents are seasoned 
parish priests. Whereas St Aloysius  
in Glasgow and the Immaculate 
Conception in London’s Farm Street 
welcomed Jesuits who are parish 
priests for the first time.

The complexities of parish life, along 
with the numbers of people involved, 
can make any transition somewhat 
daunting. However, it can also release 
new reservoirs of energy. This has 
proved the case in all of our parishes. 
As the parish priests, chairs of parish 
councils and parish support staff meet 
regularly and are in frequent contact 
with each other, the changes have 
resulted in a renewed sense of mission.

All of our ten parishes are very different 
from each other and cater for a wide 
and varied group of worshippers. We 
have rich parishes and poor parishes, 
city centre churches and small rural 
centres, multi-ethnic congregations, and 
a parish in Willesden, North London, 
catering specifically for the needs of the 
Polish community. In another of our 
London parishes, St Anselm’s, Southall, 
89% of the 2,000+ who attend mass 
there on Sunday belong to a group 
other than white British. St Francis 
Xavier’s, Liverpool, is located in one of 
the most deprived areas of the country 
yet has one of the most impressive 
homeless projects: the Whitechapel 
Centre is actively supported by SFX 
parishioners and is housed in property 
owned by the church.

In one or other of our parishes you 
can attend services in Polish, Tamil, 
Goan, Malayalam, Spanish, and English 

– or even have them signed. Young 
adults, LGBT+, South American, 
African, Indian, toddler, ecumenical, 
Polish, refugee and homeless groups – 
plus many more – find a support base 
within our pastoral network. It could 
be argued that the ten Jesuit parishes 
from Scotland to the south coast 
represent a microcosm of the Catholic 
Church in Britain.

Despite the diversity of the parishes, 
they all have one thing in common: 
they all are engaged in outreach  
work supporting those whose lives  
are affected by multiple forms of 
deprivation, distress and pressure. 
The homeless, the refugee, the poor, 
overseas charities, foodbanks, soup 
kitchens, citizens groups, faith and 
justice issues all find active support. 
10,000+ people attend services in 
our parish churches each week; and 
many more attend courses or talks 
at the Lauriston Jesuit Centre in 
Edinburgh, the Mount Street Jesuit 
Centre in London and parish halls 
in our network. l

Training day for parish priests and chairs of parish councils

10
Jesuit 
parishes

30 
Jesuits 

in parish 
ministry

7  
Parishes give 
direct outreach 
to the homeless

10,000+ 
Parishioners

PASTORAL
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Ignatian spirituality

The Spirituality sector noted a continued sense of flourishing, both in the centres and 
in wider mission work. We are reaching out to places and people we have not reached before, 

building a sense of community and forming future collaborators.

“Ignatian Spirituality is one 
of the gifts God has for 

students and parishioners, 
young and old, Catholics who 
have this tradition but do not 
always know they are called 
and gifted; other Christians 
who know they are called 

and gifted but don’t have this 
tradition. If we go on the 
road we see it working in 

people’s lives and it becomes 
its own reward,” 
Wider mission team

155 
people attended the 
Ignatian Spirituality 

Centre’s days  
of prayer

66 attended 
residential retreats 
at the Ignatian 
Spirituality Centre

27 
workshops 

run at Mount 
Street

11,405 
bednights on programmed 

events at St Beuno’s

St Beuno’s Jesuit 
Spirituality 
Centre in North 
Wales saw an 
increase in visitors 
of 17% over last 
year, despite 
reduced capacity 

during building works. Weekend 
retreats have attracted more younger 
people, with 20% under 30 (14% 
2016-17). There has been an increase 
in those taking the Spiritual Exercises 
in stages. 99% of retreatants would 
recommend St Beuno’s to others. 
The St Beuno’s Conference was held 
in Autumn 2017 on the theme ‘Ignatian 
Spirituality for a World in Flux’.

Mount Street 
Jesuit Centre in 
London continues 
to flourish as  
a community  

of learning, sharing and encounter.  
In September it held its first Open  
Day. MSJC has 20 volunteer spiritual 
directors who have contributed  
1,034 hours to the programme. All  
but one began their journey with the 
‘Deepening our Awareness of God 
Within Us’ course. Audrey Hamilton 
joined the team to plan more spirituality 
outreach in London for 2018-2019.

As well as its 
regular programme 
of training, spiritual 
direction and other 
events Ignatian 

Spirituality Centre Glasgow hosts 
events for younger people, a men’s 
group and other support groups which 
touch many lives. 68 people attended 
year-long courses in Ignatian Spirituality, 

to practise their skills. The team 
delivered a mission week in HMP 
Hewell for over 40 prisoners, in 
collaboration with Manresa Link 
and the Novitiate. 15 weeks of guided 
prayer took place in university 
chaplaincies across the country. 
Relationships have been built with 
spiritual directors around the country 
and specific support given to a new 
network for the south coast. l

building the pool of those trained to 
give the Exercises, evidenced by the 
large number of group leaders for the 
new Lent Retreat 2018. Around 70 
leaders guided around 1,000 people 
in ways of praying through Lent. This 
bold new initiative emphasised ‘wider 
mission’, with many positive impacts 
including plans for a national Lent 
Retreat for 2019.

The Wider 
Mission Team 
have continued 
spiritual formation 
in the Diocese of 
Salford, including: 
School Chaplains 
Retreat day for 

40 chaplains; a six-week Salford Prayer 
Guides course with 16 people trained; 
Lenten Evening Prayer workshops  
in three locations over three weeks, 
enabling newly trained prayer guides 

SPIRITUALITY
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Jesuit Formation

Last year many important milestones in Jesuit formation journeys were reached.

THERE IS AN old joke in which a fond 
mother of a candidate for the Society 
of Jesus expresses her pleasure that 
Jesuit training is so long “because my 
son is a slow learner”. Slow learners 
or not, Jesuits have always taken the 
formation of their men very seriously, 
and even today there is likely to be a 
decade between entering the novitiate 
and ordination to the priesthood, and 
a further five years at least before 
final vows are taken. With all these 
constraints, it is good to be able 
to report that over the last twelve 
months a number of British Jesuits 
have reached significant milestones 
in their formation journeys.

On 26th February 2018 Jacques 
St Laurent took his first vows in 
the chapel of the Jesuit novitiate in 
Birmingham. At the time Jacques 
was a few months into his studies 
of philosophy at the Centre Sèvres 
in Paris. He had been in the rather 
unusual position of having had three 
different novice-masters in his two-
year novitiate, and all were able 
to concelebrate in the Vow Mass, 
together with Fr Provincial, Damian 
Howard. In his homily the Provincial 
spoke of the need for that radical 
self-giving that lies at the heart of the 
consecrated life. Damian himself had 
made his own first vows in that same 
chapel 26 years previously.

The biggest celebration of the year 
was the ordination to the priesthood 
of Philip Harrison and Kensy Joseph. 
This took place in the church of 
St Ignatius, Stamford Hill, in north 
London on 30th June. Kensy and Philip 
had joined the novitiate on the same 
day in 2007, but their formation since 
then had taken them in different 
directions, and at times they were 
based in different continents. Bishop 

Nicholas Hudson, one of the auxiliaries 
in the Westminster archdiocese, 
ordained the two. He knows the 
Society well, having grown up in the 
Sacred Heart parish in Wimbledon, 
at that time served by the Jesuits, 
and been educated at Wimbledon 
College. In his homily he reflected 
on his upbringing:

“I was always struck by the number 
of priests one met, many more 
than you would ever get to know 
in a secular parish. I found it a huge 
enrichment to see so many different 
ways of modelling priesthood; and felt 
the call to priesthood deepen in me 
through witnessing this diversity of 
ministries among you. As one Jesuit 

said to me recently, ‘You meet one 
Jesuit and you’ve met one Jesuit.’ ”

Kensy has now moved to Glasgow, 
where he is the priest chaplain at 
St Aloysius College. Philip is in Rome, 
beginning post-graduate studies 
in scripture.

It is not always appreciated that a 
Jesuit priest’s final vows are only 
taken a few years after he is ordained. 
In the meantime he has taken part in 
a programme known as the tertianship, 
in which he revisits his original 
commitment, makes the 30-day 
Spiritual Exercises for the second time, 
and studies the Jesuit Constitutions 
and other key documents that give 

Jim Conway’s Final Vows June 2018

FORMATION
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shape to this way of life. Only after 
that will he be invited to take final 
vows, which mark the full incorporation 
of a Jesuit into the Society. The final 
vow ceremony tends to be a lower-
key, more intimate affair than either 
first vows or ordination, but is likely 
to be equally deep for the man involved.

In the last twelve months two British 
Jesuits have taken their final vows. 
Nick Austin took his at an evening 
Mass in Farm Street church on 1st 
December 2017. This is the feast-day 
of Edmund Campion, Robert Southwell 
and their companions, ten saints and 
eighteen blessed, members of the 
Society in Britain who were martyred 
in the religious persecution of the 
sixteenth and seventeenth centuries. 
Exactly a year later, Nick became the 
Master of Campion Hall in Oxford 
University. James Conway, who had 
until recently been working in Guyana, 
took his final vows, also at Farm Street, 
on 8th June, the feast of the Sacred 
Heart. He is now leading the Laudato 
Si’ community, a project for young 
adults based in Clapham.

British Jesuits continue to be involved 
in the formation of their younger 
fellow-religious, not just in Britain 
but further afield. Philip Endean 

teaches theology in Paris, where he 
is joined for occasional courses by 
Peter Gallagher, and Dushan Croos 
travels there on a regular basis to offer 
spiritual direction in Jesuit communities 
which welcome men in studies from 
across the globe. Michael Kirwan is 
currently a Visiting Professor at the 
Loyola Institute of Trinity College in 

Dublin, and James Campbell works 
in Hekima College in Nairobi. One 
reason that St Ignatius wanted Jesuit 
formation to be so thorough was to 
enable the men so formed to travel 
to wherever in the world the need was 
greatest, and nearly five centuries later 
British Jesuits are still benefitting from 
the wisdom of that decision. l

Kensy Joseph (l) and Philip Harrison (r) are ordained by Bishop Nicholas Hudson

Novitiate community at first vows

FORMATION
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The Glasgow Community

The Glasgow Jesuit community is in the Garnethill area. As the name indicates it is a hill,  
and the walk from neighbouring Sauchiehall Street – past the burnt-out shell of the iconic 

Glasgow School of Art – is short, but steep.

THE GLASGOW community house is 
home to seven Jesuits at present. 2018 
was a significant year of flux with two 
Jesuits – Brother Jim Spence and Fr Peter 
‘Bertie’ Banyard – dying during the year 
and one newly-ordained young Jesuit, 
Fr Kensy Joseph, arriving for ministry. 

To add to this mix there was a change 
of parish priest and Superior. However, 
such change is built into DNA of  
Jesuit communities, because unlike 
a Benedictine community, where 
stability is part of the vocation,  
Jesuits expect to be embedded  
in communities in transition.

The community house is actually 
cheek-by-jowl with three of our 
ministries in Scotland: in the ground 
floor of the house there is the Ignatian 
Spirituality Centre (ISC) where  
Fr David Birchall is the director.  

Fr Kensy Joseph is the Priest Chaplain 
of St Aloysius College – which, in  
its Science Building, Primary School  
and Kindergarten – surrounds the 
community house on three sides.  
Down the road the impressive  
basilica-like Church of St Aloysius 
functions as a place of quiet prayer  
and sacraments in the north  
city centre. 

The team of Frs Bernard Walker, 
 John McCabe, John Twist and  
Dermot Preston have their focus  
here. Fr Jim Christie stays in the 
community and does consultancy  
for a west of Scotland diocese.  
Perhaps the most polymathic  
of our community is our senior  
member, Brother Ted Coyle,  
who manages to assist in the  
Church, undertakes pastoral work  
in both the Junior and Senior schools 

and does regular chaplaincy ministry  
at the Gartnavel and Beatson Hospitals  
which serve the west of the city. 

The internal running of the community 
is generally taken up by its members 
and in that way we are similar to most 
Jesuit communities. We try to eat 
meals together and we pray together 
each night after supper. We have 
Monday evening set-aside for a weekly 
meeting to pray and reflect together. 

We are fortunate in being able to offer 
hospitality to visiting Jesuits or guests  
of the ministries in Garnethill, but  
as most of our work is outside the  
building of the house we rely on our  
lay colleagues, Karen Naismith and 
Isobel Boyle who keep the practicalities 
of the house running: their work allows 
us to focus on the apostolic ministries 
to which we have been assigned. l

Back: Dermot Preston, Kensy Joseph, John Twist, John McCabe. Front: Bernard Walker, Ted Coyle, David Birchall

COMMUNITIES  Glasgow
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Manchester Jesuit Community

The community in Manchester is focused on the work of the  
Manchester Universities Catholic Chaplaincy. 

Carol Service Christmas 2017

MAKING USE of the stunning 
Victorian Church of the Holy Name 
and the adjoining 1960’s chaplaincy 
building, the chaplaincy ministry has 
the three university institutions on 
Manchester’s Oxford Road as its main 
area of work. The University of 
Manchester, the Royal Northern 
College of Music, and Manchester 
Metropolitan University have about 
80,000 students between them, with a 
high proportion of international 
students. The chaplaincy team includes 
five Jesuits: Peter Scally, Geoff te 
Braake, Jim Crampsey, Kensy Joseph 
(until July 2018) and Brendan Callaghan 
and two fcJ Sisters – Cecilia Connolly 
and Alicia Perez.

“The Catholic Chaplaincy is an oasis  
on the pilgrimage of life where we make 
friends, build community, volunteer to 
serve others, and find accompaniment 
& guidance in exploring and deepening 
our faith, especially through prayer, 
liturgy and the sacraments. We are a 
thriving community from all over the 
world. With study space, free food, & 
free Wi-Fi, consider us to be your 
family – your home from home while 
you study.”

What we set out as our “mission” 
works itself out in:
•  regular Masses, in the church and  

in the chaplaincy, with Sunday 
congregations of c.150 attending 
each of the two main masses 

•  regular availability of the sacrament 
of reconciliation, and of spiritual 
direction/accompaniment

•  an annual Week of Guided Prayer, 
which brings in students and others 
for a programme of individual prayer 
and accompaniment introducing the 
various forms of prayer central  
to the Ignatian and Jesuit traditions

•  an RCIA programme for those 
preparing for the sacraments 

•  courses on the Scriptures  
and on “Deepening Our Faith”

•  volunteering opportunities, for 
example with the Central Manchester 
Foodbank and the winter nightshelter 
for asylum seekers, (both hosted at 
the chaplaincy), and with the 
Manchester l’Arche Community

•  opportunities for evangelising 
through the monthly “Night Fever” 
when passers-by are invited into  
the candle-lit church to sit, and 
perhaps light a candle, and perhaps 
pray, as they wish

•  liturgical ministries including reading, 
altar-serving, the two choirs, and 
Eucharistic Ministers.

In November Kensy Joseph SJ was 
ordained deacon at the Church of  
the Holy Name and later priest at St 
Ignatius Church in north London, 
supported at the latter celebration by 
an exuberant busload from Manchester. 
Kensy combined chaplaincy work  
with completing an MA in theology  

at the University of Manchester,  
while Geoff te Braake somehow 
manages to look after the material 
needs of the community, have his  
own ministry as part of the chaplaincy 
team, and work on an MSc at the 
Centre for Alternative Technology  
at Machynlleth in mid-Wales. 

But the community has a wider reach,  
in that two of its members are 
doctoral students at the University  
of York, crossing the Pennines to join 
the community at weekends. Both  
are recently-ordained priests: Enyeribe 
Oguh from Nigeria is completing  
a PhD in international law, while 
Thomas Flowers from the Western 
United States Province is starting  
a study of St Peter Canisius and his 
ground-breaking catechetical work. 
Having such resources means that we 
can take on occasional ministries 
outside the chaplaincy focus – and 
since the summer of 2018 have been 
assisting the Diocese of Salford by 
making possible a Sunday Mass at the 
neighbouring church of St Augustine. l

Manchester COMMUNITIES 
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The Copleston House 
Community, London

Copleston House is an international community with a strong acedmic character located  
in the leafy north west London suburb of South Hampstead.

COPLESTON HOUSE is named after 
the Jesuit Fr Frederick Copleston,  
who died in 1994. His multi volume 
History of Philosophy, the first 
volume of which appeared in 1946, 
is authoritative to this day and has 
been translated into many languages, 
most recently into Korean.

The property has been in the ownership 
of the Society of Jesus since the  
1970’s when it opened as a Centre  
for Communications and Culture 
staffed by an international group of 
Jesuits from Switzerland and the USA. 
In 1993, it became a house for those 
teaching or studying at Heythrop 
College, a role it maintained for the 
next 25 years.

Today, our community retains a strong 
academic character. We are presently 
nine Jesuits in residence. Fr Joseph 
Munitiz is engaged in scholarly work, 
principally in translating works written  
in other languages about St Ignatius 
Loyola and his spirituality. Fr Peter 
Gallagher, until recently Vice Principal 
at Heythrop College, teaches philosophy 
at the Centre Sèvres in Paris and at  
the Allen Hall diocesan seminary.  
Fr Richie Salmi is the director of the 
London Centre of Fordham University, 
the Jesuit university in New York,  
which has recently opened splendid  
new premises in Clerkenwell in the  
City of London. Michael Holman took 
over as Superior in September 2018 
from Nicholas Austin, who moved to 
Oxford. Michael assists in the Farm  
Street parish and in the Jesuit spirituality 
and theological education centre in 
Mount Street. 

Other members of the community are 
all engaged in higher studies. Fr Pedro 
McDade is from Portugal and is studying 
for a PhD in philosophy at Warwick 
University. Fr Pat Nogoy is from the 
Philippines and is studying for an MPhil in 
political philosophy at University College 
London. Fr Chester Yacub, also from the 
Philippines, has just completed an MSc 
from the London School of Economics 
in Political Economy. Fr Joseph Mathew 
from Kerala has now completed his MSc 
in clinical psychology at King’s College 
London and is applying for PhD studies. 
Melchiade Nininahazwe is from Burundi 
and is engaged in masters level studies 
in philosophy at London’s evening 
university, Birkbeck College. Fr Philip 
Moller has been a member of the 
community residing in the Catholic 

chaplaincy of Cambridge University 
and a member of St John’s College and 
is completing his PhD in theology while 
Fr Raymond Tangonyire has graduated 
with his PhD in education, specialising 
in leadership for learning, and is now 
beginning the last year of his Jesuit 
training, the tertianship, in Nairobi, 
Kenya. In addition, Fr James Campbell, 
a member of our community until July 
2018, is now based in Hekima University 
College, also in Nairobi, where he is 
librarian and teaches canon law.

Copleston House community retains 
the international character it had at its 
beginning forty years ago and is proud 
to be contributing in these ways to the 
future of the intellectual apostolate of 
the Society world-wide. l

Joseph Matthew receives his MSc

COMMUNITIES Copleston house
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WORKING IN SCOTLAND

Working in Scotland

The Jesuits in Britain serve three 
parishes in Scotland, namely Sacred 
Heart (Edinburgh), St Aloysius 
(Glasgow) and The Immaculate 
Conception Church (Inverurie).

St. Aloysius, Glasgow is a city-centre 
parish with a significant number of 
shoppers, office workers, students and 
passers-by. There is a heavy emphasis 
on the sacramental ministry – 3 masses 
a day (4 on Sunday) with confessions 
every day for 2 hours, 4 on Saturday 
and even one hour on Sunday. Our 
regular 9.00pm Mass on Sunday night 
is almost certainly the last Sunday 
Mass in Europe. There are also a lot of 
weddings and baptisms of people who 
have links either with the school or 
parish. Garnethill is a hub of various 
things religious and secular, and so the 
Church and parish centre is used by 
Mary’s Meals, the Apostleship of the 
Sea (which originated in St Aloysius in 
1920), the Carmelite Tertiaries, Catholic 
Workers, Nightfever and the Newman 
Society, but also by AA, AlAnon and 
various Palestinians, Stargazers and 
SciFi Writers. In the last two years a 
daily school of English for refugees & 
asylum seekers has been running in the 
parish hall. It serves about 40 students 
daily gathered into four ability classes 
and taught by volunteers from 10am 
to noon from Monday to Friday. It is 
a remarkable venture which is funded 
on a shoe-string by donations and no 
government assistance.

From the Jesuit community in 
Glasgow, we run a spirituality centre: 
the Ignatian Spirituality Centre (ISC). 
The ISC has a busy programme of 
courses, retreats and talks throughout 
the year. The main aim of the work is 
to encourage prayer and people to 
develop a personal relationship with 
God and give them the skills to make 
life choices in line with their Christian 

faith. With the help of a bursary 
fund, and other generous donors, we 
facilitate the attendance at our events 
of all people, regardless of ability to pay. 
The main new activity of 2018 was an 
Online Lent Retreat www.lentretreat.uk

St Aloysius College, Glasgow, is a 
Jesuit school, set up as an independent 
trust. This was supported by a transfer 
of property and other assets to the 
Trust in furtherance of its objectives 
to promote education. More recently, 
the St Aloysius Charitable Fund was 
transferred across to the College to be 
used for bursaries.

The Sacred Heart Church in 
Edinburgh continues to host the 
Bethany Care Shelter (a local inter-
church initiative providing a hot meal 
and a night shelter for the homeless) 
on occasions, with the SVP team 
preparing a 3-course meal for all the 
40-50 homeless guests each time. The 
SVP team befriend and accompany 
some parishioners and others who 
need food, money or moral support 
and someone with whom they can talk. 
They have also supported an asylum 
seeker and sometimes someone just 
out of prison. St Catherine’s Convent 
(Sisters of Mercy) is in the parish and 
some of the parishioners volunteer 
with their homeless project where they 
offer friendship and practical support 
to about 200 people a day - meals, 
showers and clean clothes as well as 
moral support. The church donates 
money to the project and often the 
proceeds of one of the social events is 
donated as well.

The Poor Fund from individual 
donations are given to certain people at 
the discretion of the parish priest and 
this is currently supporting a refugee.

The Immaculate Conception Church 
is located in the north-west part of 
Inverurie in the heart of Aberdeenshire.

The Lauriston Jesuit Centre in 
Edinburgh runs a regular programme 
of events, mostly talks, in the field of 
theology and spirituality, with a notable 
emphasis on inter-faith dialogue, 
drawing audiences from all over the 
region.

Our Promoter of Ignatian Spirituality 
is based in Edinburgh. He gives the 
support of training in and of the 
ministries of Ignatian spirituality among 
laity and clergy unattached to Jesuit 
institutions both at home and abroad 
with over 40 people regularly seeking 
help, including a number of younger 
people. The aims are to encourage a 
better understanding of and sustained 
good practice in the ministries that 
flow from the Spiritual Exercises in 
keeping with current Jesuit objectives in 
apostolic work.

The Charity has given financial and 
other support to the Epiphany Group, 
which is a discerning, prayerful group of 
women and men working ecumenically 
across Scotland; committed to work 
as Ignatian practitioners and to being 
a force for transformation in the 21st 
century. Group members practise 
Ignatian Spirituality, responding to the 
spiritual aspects of life and faith as they 
emerge, offering support to individuals, 
groups, churches, parishes and faith 
communities as required. Members 
offer spiritual direction, retreats, quiet 
days, training courses and supervision, 
accompanying people who want to 
explore God’s relationship with them. 

In addition to these Scottish based 
activities, all of the media material 
described elsewhere is available to 
members of the public in Scotland.

The costs of operating in Scotland 
during 2017–2018 were £535,000 
[2016-2017 - £450,000].

Registered Charity Number SC 40490
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2016–2017 TARGETS

Our Short–term Targets

What we said we would do in 2017–2018 and how we performed.
A number of targets were set for the year, and progress has been made as 

described below.
 

Target set Progress made

Governance

Promoting greater apostolic 
collaboration within the Province 
across the various sectoral 
boundaries

Roll out a new programme of 
Ignatian leadership training for 
Jesuits and lay collaborators

Closer collaboration with the 
Irish and French Provinces, along 
with the European Low Countries 
Region. In particular, it is planned 
to hold a joint communications 
training conference for youth, social 
and spirituality apostolates for 30 
delegates, offering eight training 
options

Develop a new communications 
strategy for the Province

Carry out a consultation for a 
province website renewal project 
(to be completed in 2019) 
and reconsider in particular: 
safeguarding, intellectual apostolate, 
job opportunities, profiles of 
apostolic works, inclusion of The 
Way content, book sales and 
promotions

Following an initial meeting at Wapping in February 2018, a conference was held 
in June 2018 at Heythrop College, a unique collaboration between the Heythrop 
Institute for Religion and Society and the Jesuit Refugee Service UK, bringing 
together academics working in theology and related disciplines, practitioners 
serving refugees, and - most importantly - those seeking asylum themselves. 
The willingness to encounter refugees, and to listen to their stories, opens up 
the possibilities of new public perceptions, ones more in touch with the human 
realities of men, women and children who seek asylum on our shores. Refugees 
themselves, if given the chance to tell their own stories, have the capacity to 
change the narrative.

This programme is being delivered in partnership with the Irish Province and the 
Region of the Low Countries. Two out of four modules have been completed, 
with the third scheduled for July 2019. Nine Jesuits and lay partners in mission 
from the Jesuits in Britain have been taking part.

The joint communications training conference took place in June 2018 with 28 
delegates from Britain, Ireland and the European Low Countries participating in 
eight course options over three days. Joint “Consult” meetings continue to take 
place with the Irish Province every year, while Jesuits in formation are being sent 
to the French-speaking Province. Discussions have been taking place with the 
French-speaking Province about their formation centre.

Limited progress has been made on the overall strategy. However, progress 
has been made on certain elements e.g. a draft internet policy covering online 
communications is due to be published Easter 2019.

This work in progress was delayed as it needed to proceed alongside and not 
get ahead of the apostolic planning process. With the publication of the Universal 
Apostolic Preferences of the worldwide Society in February 2019, the process 
has re-started.
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2016–2017 TARGETS (Targets set and Progress review)

Ensure that all province apostolic 
works have correct policies and 
procedures in place for the new 
GDPR legislation

Develop a secure electronic 
database for all safeguarding 
documents

Visit Guyana Region to give 
safeguarding training and to ensure 
all relevant safeguarding policies 
and procedures are being applied 
rigorously

Prepare new ethical investment 
guidelines with a more positive 
emphasis on long-term investing 
for sustainability to complement 
long-standing ‘negative’ guidelines 
(i.e. on avoiding investments at 
odds with our core beliefs and 
values, and where appropriate 
representing our concerns to the 
company concerned)

Review our strategic allocation of 
investment funds

Parish ministry 

Completion of the Heritage 
Lottery Funding development 
phase 1 work at Holy Name 
Church, Manchester (a nationally 
important Grade 1 listed church) 
and secure funding award for work 
on the north transept

Improve inter-parish collaboration 
through regular meetings of the 
Pastoral Forum, the triennial 
pastoral conference, new online 
shared news and the launch of a 
portal on the Province website

Consider and review with the 
Newman Trust and the Diocese 
of Salford the longer-term 
scale of financial support for 
the chaplaincies of Manchester 
Universities and of Oxford 
University

A GDPR training day for all apostolic works took place in February 2018 and 
a follow up survey in September 2018 showed good progress. A new province 
privacy policy has been adopted and is linked to all province websites. A new IT 
policy has also been adopted, and a professional email protocol implemented 
across the province.

Progress continues to be made on centralizing files of these documents.  An 
electronic system for their safe storage and recovery is still being sourced.

A visit to Guyana was made in the year, during which training was given and 
policies and procedures were put in place. The safeguarding office now provides 
advisory support on an ongoing basis.

The ethical investment guidelines were revised during the course of the year and 
adopted.

Following the decision to switch from bonds into mainly equity, the allocation 
was reviewed again, but no changes were made during the year. This is an ongoing 
process and will continue to be kept under review, especially in light of the current 
volatility of investments.

Phase 1 has been completed and the future funding package is now being processed.

The Jesuit Parishes’ Forum meets regularly to share information, discuss examples 
of good practice and engage in joint initiatives.

With a change of personnel in Manchester there has been a renewed sense 
of direction and they await confirmation from the diocese to the proposed 
development plans.
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2016–2017 TARGETS (Targets set and Progress review)

Education

Assist the orderly closure of 
Heythrop College, London in 
October 2018 making special 
provision where necessary 
for doctoral students and the 
seminarians of Allen Hall (the 
seminary of the Archdiocese of 
Westminster) to continue their 
studies, while also providing grants 
to meet the substantial financial 
liabilities of the College as and 
when they arise, subject to an 
overall limit, including redundancy 
costs and some of the College’s 
pension liabilities

Find new premises for the 
Heythrop College Library by 
Autumn 2018

Prepare to launch a new work, 
tentatively named Reconcilio, 
focused on the theme of Integral 
Ecology, inspired by the ecclesial 
vision of Pope Francis. It is likely 
to conduct academic work, 
including the offering of graduate 
programmes, while devoting itself 
to the intellectual, spiritual and 
pastoral formation of young adults, 
drawing upon key topics of other 
Jesuit apostolates, such as JRS 
and Jesuit Missions, while in turn 
resourcing them intellectually. 
It will also link with other 
international academic institutes 
and international Jesuit networks.

Continue the programme of 
supporting building improvements 
at St Ignatius College, Enfield with 
further grants

The effective closure of Heythrop College was achieved in January 2019 with 
arrangements made where necessary for students to continue their studies 
elsewhere. All redundancy costs and pension liabilities were settled as required.  
Arrangements have been made for its former students to access a Virtual 
Learning Environment (VLE) on which the teaching, learning and research 
material are supported. The system marks, grades and stores the written essays, 
coursework and dissertations.

The Heythrop Library was relocated to appropriate storage at Ruislip during 
2018 with an agreement in place with the University of London to allow access to 
all members of the public through their library system. Meanwhile, a Librarian and 
Assistant Librarian have been appointed to ensure that the library is retained as 
the principal living and working theological library in the UK. 

In July 2018, Professor Celia Deane-Drummond was appointed the first Director 
of the Laudato Si Research Institute, an Institute of Campion Hall, University of 
Oxford. The Research Institute will be launched in Summer 2020. Meanwhile, 
a new MA course on Integral Ecology with Roehampton University is due to 
start in September 2019. Courses in adult formation in spirituality, theology and 
social justice, focusing especially, but not uniquely on meeting the education and 
formation needs of young adults are being researched and developed ready for 
the launch of a new Centre based at Mount Street in September 2020.

The latest grants given were used to refurbish the gym, along with changing 
rooms, showers and toilets. The library has also been refurbished while other 
rooms have been converted into more classrooms and a new chapel created. 
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2016–2017 TARGETS (Targets set and Progress review)

Formation

Find appropriate uses for the 
newly vacated formation houses in 
London, pending the completion 
of a review of London housing 
requirements, which is dependent 
on the completion of plans for 
Reconcilio (please see above)

Develop and review plans to 
implement the renewal and 
upgrade of the novitiate house 
(Manresa House) in Birmingham

Increase staff and volunteer 
capacity within the Jesuit Refugee 
Service (JRS) to enable the 
number of destitute refugees we 
serve and accompany to increase 
to around 250 a month at the 
weekly day centre and one-to-one 
appointments

Continue and introduce new 
activities and groups for our 
refugee friends focused on building 
resilience and companionship 
including drama and a choir / music 
group

Increase capacity in the JRS 
Detention Outreach service 
enabling us to provide pastoral 
and practical support to detainees 
through befriending, prayer 
companions, and welfare services

Increase the number of destitute 
refugees supported with 
temporary accommodation 
through the At Home hosting 
scheme, and crucially, begin public 
advocacy based on the experiences 
of the hosting scheme

Gain regulatory approval to begin 
providing legal advice service to 
those we serve through the Day 
Centre

Social justice and the relief of poverty

Housing has been used to shelter a refugee family, as well as providing 
accommodation for young adults wanting to live in a Catholic Community with 
shared values, and another religious order.

A tender process has been held to appoint architects to draw up plans for a 
substantial rebuild of the novitiate house in Birmingham. It is expected that building 
work will start in the Summer of 2019 with completion within two years.

Staff and volunteer capacity increased sufficiently to enable the number of destitute 
refugees served and accompanied to increase to an average of 231 a month at the 
weekly day centre and one-to-one appointments.

The Day Centre Plus and Companion projects continue to be developed. A drama 
group and gospel choir both performed at the inaugural JRS Christmas Service in 
2017. During the year, mindfulness sessions were piloted for our refugee friends 
and these proved very popular. Changes at the Hurtado Centre including the new 
Elliot Garden Room mean that we are better able to host both new and existing 
projects.

We have significantly increased our capacity in the Detention Outreach service, 
recruiting 9 new volunteers and providing extensive training for new and existing 
volunteers. This has enabled us to provide greater pastoral and practical support to 
detainees through befriending, prayer companions, and welfare services.

We increased the number of destitute refugees supported with temporary 
accommodation through the At Home hosting scheme to an average of 15 guests. 
During the year, we launched the ‘Out in the Cold’ report which examined 
patterns of homelessness amongst the destitute refugees served by JRS.

Regulatory approval to begin providing legal advice service to those we serve 
through the Day Centre was achieved in June; the project started in January 2019.
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Spirituality

Increase our advocacy and 
outreach work to raise the profile 
of the situation of asylum seekers, 
particularly amongst the Catholic 
community

Continuation of facilities for the 
homeless through our Parishes and 
other Jesuit houses

Resolve to our satisfaction the 
disputes with the contractor 
on the building repair work at 
Boscombe

Review plans for development at St 
Beuno’s and start a programme of 
building works to be completed in 
the next five years

Develop an online retreat at the 
Ignatian Spirituality Centre in 
collaboration with the ecumenical 
Epiphany Group

Promote and provide resources for 
a Mental Health Awareness Week, 
as well as for the annual awareness 
raising and fundraising campaign in 
July 2018

Run a further Week of Guided 
Prayer in HMP Hewell and one in 
HMP Haverigg for the first time, 
enabling the trained prayer guides 
to explore other possible prison 
retreats

Gather together and transfer 
resources to the Pathways to God 
website, making resources easier 
to find through categorisation, 
especially for new directors, 
trainers and priority groups

Care of infirm and elderly Jesuits

Advocacy and outreach work significantly increased with the growth of the JRS 
staff team. The outward-facing work has seen an increase in the number of papers, 
collaborations and outreach talks, particularly amongst the Catholic community. 
We hosted a visit from Cardinal Vincent Nichols in July 2018. There has also been 
a significant increase in media coverage of our work, including regular coverage 
in the Church Times and the Tablet, as well as coverage on Radio 4 Sunday 
programme and other religious broadcasting.

Seven of our Jesuit parishes give direct outreach to homeless people either on 
parish premises for night shelters and soup kitchens, or street ministry. Mount  
St, Wapping, Jesuit Missions and Copleston Jesuit communities each offered three-
month respite homes to a destitute asylum seeker through the Jesuit Refugee 
Service At Home project.

Satisfactory agreement on a full and final settlement basis was achieved with 
Balfour Beatty during the year.

During the year, further ensuite bedrooms at St Beuno’s were created, while 
external repairs to the dining room were completed. Planning application has been 
made to carry out extensive work on the west wing of the house and to replace 
the boilers.

The online retreat was successfully delivered with about 1,000 people participating. 
70 face-to-face groups met weekly across Scotland during Lent with around 10 
participants each. Many others followed the online retreat only. Over £4,000 was 
raised in donations. The retreat will be rolled out nationally in 2019.

Seven testimony pieces and seven audio reflections were produced and made 
available on a hub page on PathwaystoGod.org. Thinking Faith commissioned three 
articles on mental health issues. The resources were jointly promoted during 
Mental Health Awareness Week in May 2018 and remain available for further 
promotion in 2019.  The 31 Days campaign, focussing on Ignatian ways of praying, 
had 7,800 followers in 2018 and raised over £16,000.

40 prisoners took part in the Week of Guided Prayer at HMP Hewell. The plans for 
HMP Haverigg fell through but further prison work is being explored.

A wide range of materials was added to the PathwaystoGod.org website during 
the year including:
• 12 Praying with Art videos 
• additional resources for the Lent Retreat 2018 in Glasgow 
• resources for the 31 Days Campaign
• 50 new resources from other sources eg Soundcloud, Youtube
• 12 new blog posts for the 12 Days of Christmas (December 2017- January 2018) 
and
• Scriptural Stations of the Cross leaflet for use in parishes (Easter 2018) 
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Work overseas

Implement the new strategic 
framework for the work of Jesuit 
Missions

Pilot the new volunteering 
partnership model

Relaunch the Companions 
Programme within Jesuit Missions

Support the Jesuit Formation 
Centre in Paris

Continue to provide resources 
in support of the Catholic 
Community in Pakistan

After wide consultation and careful reflection, the strategic framework is being 
implemented. Three thematic priorities guide our work: Care of Creation, 
Leadership for Social Justice, and Responding to Humanitarian emergencies.

A new model of volunteering has been piloted in South Africa where a UK 
volunteer was partnered with a local volunteer from South Africa. The aim is to 
bring volunteers from different cultures together to work alongside each other 
on a shared task. While the pilot went well, we were disappointed that more 
volunteers could not be recruited. An evaluation will take place this year.

This has been relaunched as the Companions in Action programme. Resources 
have been developed and sent to schools. Three schools will be involved in the 
first phase of the relaunch and, in time, we hope to extend the programme to 
Jesuit parishes.

In May 2018, a Jesuit was appointed as director of the second cycle (Masters 
programme), in addition to his responsibilities for teaching, spiritual direction, and 
the promotion of good relations between the Centre Sèvres and other institutions 
in Europe. Another of our Jesuits visits to support the spiritual direction of Jesuits 
studying there, particularly in English for those for have learnt it for formation as 
a third or fourth language, but are now required to live and study in French, which 
they are still mastering.

During the year, one of our Jesuits visited Pakistan and gave a series of retreats, 
while also offering spiritual direction. The Province is to continue to support the 
Catholic community in Pakistan on an ongoing basis.
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SHORT-TERM TARGETS

Governance
• Establish a British-Irish Joint Apostolic 

Planning Commission
• Safeguarding – carry out a review 

of how well Jesuit associated works 
are receiving and delivering on the 
safeguarding message

• Complete a new tranche of 
safeguarding training for Jesuits in 
ministry

• Appoint a new Chair of the 
Safeguarding Commission

• Carry out a review of lay 
participation with a view to devising 
new structures and communications 
strategies

• Launch an apostolic discernment 
about our works in Scotland with 
a view to consolidating them and 
making them more coherent as a 
whole

• Start implementation of a health & 
safety management system

• Hold a Province gathering at Easter 
for Jesuits and lay partners in mission

• Adapt and promulgate a new internet 
policy document

Parish ministry 
The British Province’s Pastoral Assistant 
gathers representatives to meet 
regularly to review pastoral activities in 
parishes.  For the coming year:
• Secure further funding for essential 

work on Holy Name Church, 
Manchester (a nationally important 
Grade 1 listed church) 

• Appoint pastoral associates in three 
more of our parishes

• Appoint a programme director 
for the Lauriston Jesuit Centre in 
Edinburgh

Education
The work of schools is supervised by 
the Jesuit Institute. The higher education 
sector has its own delegate.   
For the coming year: 
• Continue preparing for the launch of 

the Laudato Si Research Institute at 
Campion Hall, University of Oxford 

• Gain approval for the start of the 
MA programme with Roehampton 
University

• Research and plan a new centre of 
integral formation for young adults 
in central London, including the 
appointment of a Centre Director

• Complete a strategic plan for 
Campion Hall to give direction to it’s 
work in education and research for 
the next 5 years

• Support the establishment of 
a National Centre for School 
Chaplaincy 

Formation
The formation of young Jesuits is 
supervised by a Delegate of the 
Provincial.  For the coming year:
• Find appropriate uses for the newly 

vacated formation houses in London
• Provide major support for the 

worldwide formation of Jesuit priests 
from poorer countries

• Finalise plans for a renewal and 
upgrade of the novitiate house 
(Manresa House) in Birmingham

• Hold a gathering of the men in 
formation in August 2019 

• Support the training of priests 
including those of the Syro-Malabar 
rite in Britain 

Social justice and the relief of 
poverty
Work for the poorest is carried out in 
parishes and also in our projects for the 
marginalised.  For the coming year:
• Open a Legal Advice Project at 

the Jesuit Refugee Service (JRS) in 
January 2019 to provide diagnostic 
immigration advice, research and 
intensive casework support

•  Begin a JRS post-detention support 
service (from February 2019) 
in order to provide continuing 
accompaniment to those released 
from detention;

•  Set-up a JRS Accommodation Project 
– including gaining planning approval, 
setting referral guidelines and internal 
policies, and recruitment of staff 
in order to open a 10- bedroom 
house providing accommodation 
for destitute refugees from Summer 
2019 onwards

• Increase the number of refugees 
served, the variety of activities 
available and the capacity to provide 
support through accompaniment

•  Recruit and train more JRS 
volunteers to make visits as part of 
our Detention Outreach Service

•  Increase networking and 
collaboration with others, increase 
the number of publications and 
events and develop self-advocacy by 
our refugee friends

•  Continue to work to serve the 
homeless through our Southall parish 
and hosting temporary night-shelters 
in some of our properties in London 
and elsewhere.

Short–term Targets for 2018–2019 
What will we do?

A number of targets have been set for the forthcoming year.



30 Jesuits Annual Review 2017-2018

SHORT-TERM TARGETS

Care of infirm and elderly Jesuits
The care of elderly Jesuits takes place at 
our houses in Boscombe and Preston.  
The Provincial’s Delegate for healthcare 
works with the Superiors of those two 
houses.  For the coming year:
• Review and revise where necessary 

the policies and procedures we have 
in place.

Spirituality
The Province’s work in spirituality is 
carried out under the direction of a 
Delegate of the Provincial.  For the 
coming year:
• Replace the oil-fired boilers used at 

St Beuno’s
• Provide material for an online Lent 

retreat in 2019
• Support the Wimbledon Park Mission 

Week in May 2019

• Undertake a 31-day of St Ignatius 
campaign in July 2019 with a focus on 
Ignatian prayer

• Facilitate as series of regional 
gatherings for local Spiritual 
Directors

• Hold a seminar on common apostolic 
discernment at St Beuno’s in March 
2019.

Work overseas
The office that coordinates this work is 
that of Jesuit Missions with its director.  
For the coming year: 
• Recruit and place 10 to 12 volunteers 

overseas, while increasing the number 
of opportunities for volunteers in 
the UK and actively engaging with 
returned volunteers

• Establishment of an Education 
Advisory Group and development 
of new Jesuit Missions resources for 
schools with emphasis on Actions 8- 
13 of the Rio Papers

• Recruit Parish Promoter who will 
serve as a Jesuit Missions presence in 
the parishes

• Foster increased parish awareness 
in the concept of A Faith that Does 
Justice, involvement in volunteering, 
the speakers’ tour and events such as 
the London Marathon

• Creation of a Youth Leadership for 
Social Justice Forum (18-30-year 
olds) entitled “The Rutilio Grande 
Initiative” – to be rolled out over a 
three-year period.



FINANCE AND ADMINISTRATION

Finance and Administration

Financial Review

Income
It appears on first sight of the 
Statement of Financial Activities 
(on page 42) that there has been 
a substantial decline in income to 
£25,765k from 2016–2017 when it was 
£66,058k. Looking at charity income 
over the last 5 years though shows 
clearly that income was exceptional 
in 2016-2017, the previous year – this 
is because it had included proceeds 
from the one-off sale of a property in 
Kensington. 

Total income – 5-year history (£m)

Total income – 5-year history excluding the 
exceptional property sale in 2016-2017 (£m)

Total charitable expenditure – 5-year history (£m)
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Excluding this one off property sale, 
income would have been £26,354k in 
2016-2017. Using this figure, the fall in 
income would have been just over 2%. 
Readers will notice that income has 
fluctuated within a relatively narrow 
band over the five year period.

Expenditure
The Charity’s expenditure on its 
charitable activities amounted to 
£24,872k during the year compared 
with £44,151k in 2016–2017, so it 
would seem that there has been a 
sharp drop in expenditure. However, 
looking at the 5-year history graph, it 
can be seen clearly that expenditure 
was quite exceptional in 2016-2017. 
This is because of a one-off grant of just 
under £20m to cover the teach-out and 
closure costs of Heythrop College. 
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Total investments – 5-year history (£m)

Net income / expenditure before gains on investments
Falling income and increasing expenditure resulted in a deficit (before investment gains) of £1,897k. In 2016-2017, the deficit 
net of the one-off events described above would have been £1,945k. The deficits are not that concerning, as all charitable 
money needs to be spent and existing reserves were sufficient to cover these. 

Investments
Further unrealised investment gains were recorded during the year, amounting to £47,561k, following on from gains of 
£37,882k in 2016–2017. These gains are mostly unrealised and are subject to the volatility of equity markets. For this reason, 
sufficient cash reserves are well planned. The graph below shows the steady increase in investments over the past 5 years. 

The Investment Committee continues its task of reviewing investment performance on a regular basis.

In the end, the amount required to 
close the College in an orderly way 
proved to be less expensive with 
the result that during 2017-2018 a 
release of provision of approximately 
£4m was made. Excluding the 
closure grant to Heythrop College 
(in both years), expenditure actually 
rose year on year by over18%, a 
significant increase. Indeed, charitable 
expenditure is at a 5-year high, as can 
be seen from the following graph.

Net movement in funds
Mainly as a result of the unrealised investment gains, the Charity saw a positive total net movement in funds of £45,664k 
(2016–2017: £56,964k).
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The Funds of the Charity
The total funds of the Charity amount 
to £637,735k (2016–2017: £592,071k). 

Funds fall into three categories:

Restricted Funds:  £152,701k are for 
particular projects, subject to specific 
conditions imposed by the original 
donors. These are described in fuller 
detail in the notes to the accounts. 

Designated Funds:  £481,768k are 
designated (or set aside) in order 
to enable the Society to fulfil its 
mission i.e. the service of faith and the 
promotion of justice, as described more 
fully in this report.  Although the Jesuit 
constitution provides that its funds may 
be built up to promote and endow its 
colleges and other works, permanent 
endowment is not allowed to its 
religious communities whose members 
have completed formation and are not 
in care. Jesuits covenant any income 
they receive to the Trust, so that all 
salaries, pensions, royalties, personal 
legacies, etc. are used for the works of 
the Trust, with the Trust meeting their 
living costs.

There are four main funds of the 
Jesuits in Britain, which have been 
designated to:
• Found new institutes and work 

(Foundations Fund)
• Promote and subsidise the works 

of the Jesuits in Britain (Apostolic 
Works Fund)

• Pay the costs of study and training of 
Jesuits (Formation Fund)

• Provide for sick and elderly Jesuits 
(Old Age Fund).

By designation of funds, the trustees 
retain the flexibility to respond to 
changing needs, while providing a useful 
method of balancing the different claims 
on funds.

More information on the designations 
is given in notes to the accounts.

Unrestricted Funds:  in addition to the 
funds referred to above, general funds 
of £3,266k are available to support 
the work of the Jesuits in Britain in 
the future. These have increased from 
£2,484k during the course of the year.  

Fundraising and the work of the 
Development Office
The Development Office has three 
members of staff: Development & 
Communications Director, Database 
Manager and Campaigns Manager. The 
role of the team is to support the 
apostolic works in their fundraising 
efforts through designing appeals 
and implementing a shared database 
so that donors can be appropriately 
stewarded.  A review of the work of the 
Development Office was commissioned 
towards the end of the financial year 
and is currently under consideration.

The Jesuit Archives 
The Jesuit Archives, which are based 
in London, collect, preserve and make 
available records concerning the Jesuits 
in Britain. In 2017-18, there were a 
total of 55 visits to the archives, while 
the Archives team responded to 
170 enquiries and produced 26 blog 
posts on a range of topics.  Steady 
progress continues to be made with 
the cataloguing of the collection, so 
there are now over 8,000 entries 
compared to just over 4,000 at the end 
of the previous year. The Archives also 
provided work experience placements 
to 3 students during the year.

Reserves Policy
The level of reserves held is a matter 
for trustees, who review the reserves 
from time to time with a view to using 
surplus funds in accordance with the 
Trust deed, while also recognising 
the need to hold reserves in order 
to underwrite day-to-day activities. 

Trustees also take into consideration 
a number of other factors, namely 
the reliability of its income, flexibility 
of costs in terms of whether they 
are fixed or variable, availability of 
cash, the requirements to invest in 
order to deliver its objectives and 
also the level of reserves in its various 
designated funds. The trustees’ policy 
is to hold between 6 months’ worth of 
premises costs and 3 months’ worth 
of administration and other support 
costs, which for the year ended 30th 
September 2018 equates to £3,520k 
(2016–2017: £3,355k). General funds 
at £3,266k have improved substantially 
over the past year and are now just 
below target. The Charity will continue 
to monitor reserves closely.

Grant-making Policy
The Trust is not primarily a grant-
making trust and the trustees do not 
consider applications from the general 
public. Occasional grants are however 
made to organisations and individuals 
whose work is aligned with that of the 
Jesuits in Britain through the Fund for 
Social Justice. The trustees’ principal 
intention, however, in their use of funds 
is to support the various institutions 
for which the Society is responsible, all 
of which are for the public benefit.  A 
financial subsidy from central funds is 
given where this is judged appropriate. 
Central funds are also available for the 
support of members of the Society 
during periods of initial or ongoing 
study and training (from the Formation 
Fund), and for the support of those 
who are retired or infirm (from the Old 
Age Fund). The trustees support the 
work of the Guyana Region, along with 
Jesuit works in both South Africa and in 
Zimbabwe (both former regions of the 
British Province).
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Investment Policy
The Trust’s investment portfolio is 
overseen by an Investment Committee. 
Currently, the portfolio consists of 
listed investments, cash deposits 
and investment properties, with no 
bonds, these having been divested in 
2016-2017.  A few years ago, the Trust 
decided to move away from owning 
properties directly and to holding 
property indirectly and this process 
has continued with further investment 
properties sold with funds being 
invested in one of two charity property 
funds. The Investment Committee 
continues to review the strategic 
allocation and expects to make further 
changes to the overall allocation in the 
year following receipt of the proceeds 
from the sale of the Kensington 
property. 

The equity portfolio is divided 
between three main managers. Within 
specified guidelines, the investment 
managers’ objectives are to maximise 
total return, whilst providing a level of 
income advised by the trustees each 
year.  The performance of each manager 
is reviewed on at least a quarterly 
basis and changes are made from time 
to time.  As at the year end, the total 
market value was £491.1m (2016–2017: 
£446.5m).

Ethical Investment Policy
Our policy provides a set of 

principles, looking forward to the type 
of world which we want to promote 
through our investments; intentionally 
investing in line with our fundamental 
ideals; supporting policies and initiatives 
in companies that promote the values 
of Catholic Social Thought while still 
earning a just and sufficient return to 
help fund our work.  Our policy is also 
informed by the UK Stewardship Code 
of the Financial Reporting Council, 
which promotes seven helpful principles 
for institutional investors.  The Trustees 
work to uphold the United Nations 
Principles for Responsible Investment 
within which institutional investors 
pledge to incorporate environmental, 
social and governance issues into 
investment decision-making processes, 
being active owners across all asset 
classes. 

We do not invest in companies 
whose products or policies are counter 
to the values of Catholic moral 
teaching. Our investment managers 
screen our portfolios (using agencies 
such as EIRIS) to eliminate such stocks.  
The threshold limits, for what we hold 
in certain stocks, were reviewed and 
revised in 2018.

The trustees are active members 
of the Church Investors Group, the 
Institutional Investors Group on 
Climate Change, the UK Sustainable 
Investment and Finance Association and 
the Charities Responsible Investment 
Network of ShareAction, all of which 
promote shareholder engagement.

We support practical steps to further 
the goals of the Paris agreement 
(COP21 2015) on climate change: 
restricting the use of fossil fuels; 
reviewing the carbon footprints of all 
our investment portfolios with a view 
to minimising them; surveying Jesuit 
works and communities, especially their 
properties, with a view to minimising 
wasteful use of energy and promoting 
green energy.

Basis for Accounts Preparation
The financial statements have been 
prepared based on the accounting 
policies set out after the financial 
statements and comply with the 
Charity’s Trust deeds, applicable law and 
the requirements of the Statement of 
Recommended Practice (Charities 
SORP FRS 102).
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The Board of Trustees
The Declaration of Trust dated 20 
March 1929 provides that new trustees 
shall be appointed by resolution of 
the existing trustees. The trustees are 
incorporated under the Charities Act 
2011 as ‘Trustees for Roman Catholic 
Purposes Registered’ (TRCPR).

As members of the Society, the 
trustees’ living and personal expenses 
during the year are borne by the Trust. 
Trustees receive no remuneration for 
services as trustees.

The trustees met six times during the 
year.

Trustees are chosen for their 
experience of the various works of 
the Trust, as described in this report. 
Given their considerable knowledge of 
these works, their induction focuses 
on the more technical responsibilities 
of trustees. This is achieved primarily 
by mentoring within the group, with 
sessions occasionally given over to 
discussion of a particular aspect of 
trustee responsibility e.g. the Objects of 
the Trust. Use is made also of external 
seminars. The rotation of appointments 
is made, so as to ensure a continuing 
body of experience within the group as 
a whole.

Organisational Structure
The overall responsibility for activities 
of the Jesuits in Britain (the British 
Province of the Society of Jesus) lies 
with the Provincial Superior, who 
is assisted by his Socius and by the 
Treasurer, and other central office staff. 
The Provincial meets with a group of 
Consultors monthly. Fr Damian Howard 
SJ was appointed as Provincial for a six-
year term starting from 1 September 
2017. 

Each Jesuit community is guided by 
a local Superior who has responsibility 
for the activities of the Province in that 
locality. 

Particular works (schools, retreat 
centres, etc.) may be the responsibility 
of a ‘Director of Work’ appointed by 
the Provincial or by a local governing 
body acting on the Provincial’s behalf.  
It is normal for the Provincial to visit all 
Jesuit communities and works each year.

Constitution
The Jesuits in Britain are governed 
by the constitutions of the Society of 
Jesus and regulated by Canon Law. The 
principal assets of the Jesuits in Britain 
are held in the following charitable 
trusts:
• Deed poll, dated 1 December 1921 

of Society of Jesus Trust of 1921 for 
Roman Catholic Purposes (Charity 
Registration number 230166);

• Declaration of Trust, dated 20 March 
1929 and subsidiary deed dated 3 
April 1969 (Jesuit Development 
Fund) of Society of Jesus Trust of 
1929 for Roman Catholic Purposes 
(Charity Registration number 
230165)

• Trust deed dated 11 June 1990 
establishing The Society of 
Jesus Charitable Trust (Charity 
Registration number 803659)

The Society of Jesus Trust of 1929 for 
Roman Catholic Purposes has been 
given charitable status by the Office of 
the Scottish Charity Regulator (OSCR) 
under Charity Number SC 040490.

The charities are treated as a single 
charity for accounting purposes (under 
charity registration number 230165), in 
accordance with the uniting direction 
issued by the Charity Commission, 
together with the von Hugel Charity 
(charity registration number 278966); 
connected with Corpus Christi Church 
in Boscombe. This charity is for the 
promotion, advancement or support 
of charitable work or works, at the 
absolute discretion of the charity’s 
trustees, in the beneficial area (namely 
the Roman Catholic parishes of 
Boscombe and Iford). 

Connected Charities
Beaumont Educational Trust
This is a small fund generating 
bursaries to be applied in promoting 
the education of boys and young 
men in need of financial assistance in 
accordance with the doctrines of the 
Roman Catholic Church. Preference 
is given to those who can claim a 
connection with the former Beaumont 
College, Old Windsor. It is a separate 
charity, registered no 309142. Its 
trustees are the same as those of the 
Trust and the two charities are treated 
as a single charity for accounting 
purposes.

Mary Patricia O’Halloran Charity
This is a charity set up on the death 
of Mary Patricia O’Halloran, originally 
to benefit the poor of the Holy Name 
Parish in Manchester. The objectives 
have since been widened to serve the 
poor of the City of Manchester. Until 
recently, the charity had only a single 
Trustee. Charity Commission approval 
was sought and obtained for the 
Trustees for Roman Catholic Purposes 
Registered to become a Corporate 
Trustee for this charity, on the basis 
that the Society owns and uses Holy 
Name Church. Approval was given 
on the understanding that the funds 
would be kept separate and the charity 
has not been consolidated into these 
accounts.

Committee Structure
Three main committees are appointed 
by the trustees to assist in their work.

Investment Committee
The Investment Committee meets on 
a regular basis as need dictates, but at 
least five times a year. 

The principal role of the Investment 
Committee is to give advice on 
the management of and review the 
performance of the investment 
portfolios, while upholding the ethical 
restrictions on our investments.

How we manage our affairs
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At each of the scheduled quarterly 
meetings, one of its investment 
managers appears before it in order 
to make a presentation reviewing 
the performance of each portfolio 
over the previous 12 months, to 
discuss economic prospects for the 
forthcoming year and to answer 
questions. The fifth meeting is dedicated 
to a review of its ethical investment 
policy. 

Its current members are: 
Mrs Marta Albert 
Mr Richard Brumby
Mr Timothy Edwards
Mr James Holt
Fr Keith McMillan SJ (Chair)
Fr Christopher Pedley SJ
Br Stephen Power SJ (Trustee)
Mr Stephen Withnell

Finance Committee
The Finance Committee met three 
times during 2017-18. It’s principal role 
is to consider operational financial 
matters, including accounting, banking, 
property, HR and other resourcing 
issues.

Its current members are: 
Fr Joe Duggan SJ 
Mr Timothy Edwards
Fr Damian Howard SJ (Chair)
Mrs Joan Lim
Fr Paul Nicholson SJ
Fr Christopher Pedley SJ
Br Stephen Power SJ   
   

Safeguarding Commission
The Province set up a Safeguarding 
Commission in 2001, shortly after 
Lord Nolan’s report on safeguarding 
in England & Wales recommended 
these be set up for each diocese 
and religious order. The Commission 
consists of seven lay people and two 
Jesuits. Five of the lay people are drawn 
from the core safeguarding professions 
and two with broader backgrounds. 
Commission members are recruited by 
advertisement and appointed through 
selection with five-year tenure. They 
provide their services on a pro-bono 
basis. Three members are not Catholics.

The Commission meets five to six 
times a year to discuss policy, practice 
and to advise the province coordinator, 
where required, on specific casework 
matters. It has an advisory and oversight 
responsibility as required by the 
national bishops’ conference and the 
Conference of Religious Superiors. 

Safeguarding within the Province 
covers both children (those under the 
age of eighteen) and adults considered 
as being at risk of abuse. The Province, 
in keeping with the “One Church” 
principle of having a single common 
approach aligns its work with the 
principles and practices agreed by the 
Bishops’ conferences (England & Wales 
and Scotland) and the Conference 
of Religious Superiors. This was 
reinforced formally in 2016 when the 
Province adopted its own over-arching 
safeguarding policy confirming this 
approach.

 
During the past year the commission 
has overseen a number of initiatives: 
• Safeguarding training has been 

updated and delivered to all 133 
Jesuits working in the Province 
and also to all 26 Jesuits and four 
Ursuline sisters in Guyana. 

• Each local superior who has 
responsibility for oversight of a risk 
management plan was trained this 
year in this area of work.

• The safeguarding pages of the 
provincial website have been 
enhanced with the provision of a 
safeguarding “tab” in a prominent 
position and all the information 
and links rewritten and updated. 
This should ensure that everyone 
who is looking for information 
or reassurance can now find the 
relevant information well presented 
on the Jesuit webpages.

• This reporting year has concentrated 
on the updating of provincial 
safeguarding records and record 
keeping to ensure compliance 
with CSAS and data protection 
requirements, which is on-going 
work.

• Developing and enhancing 
safeguarding policy and practice has 
continued with the Commission 
providing input and advice to the 
Provincial on the new province social 
media policy and the drafting of best 
practice guidelines for supporting 
victim-survivors.

• A scoping exercise was initiated to 
scope the extent of safeguarding 
provision in the Jesuit Works. When 
this is completed the Province will 
be in a better position to ensure 
better provision of support to these 
in the future.

This year the Commission was able to 
recruit a specialist member for adults-
at-risk and a new Chair was recruited 
to replace Mr Kevin Barry, who served 
throughout 2017-18 as the Chair.

Its current members are: 
Fr Brendan Callaghan SJ
Mrs Emanuela Federspil-Bernstorff
Mr Jim Gallagher
Dr Wilson Muleya
Mr Clive Myers
Mr Richard Powley
Fr Peter Randall SJ
Mr James Reilly (Chair)
Mr Stuart Sleeman  

The Province safeguarding co-
ordinator is Mrs Jo Norman, while Fr 
Christopher Pedley SJ is responsible for 
the administration of disclosures from 
Protecting Vulnerable Groups (PVG) 
and Disclosure & Barring Service (DBS).

Risk Management
The trustees face numerous risks, 
both on a day-to-day basis and over 
the longer term. These risks relate to 
an uncertain event or set of events 
which, should it or they occur, would 
have an effect on the achievement of 
the charity’s objectives. Risk not only 
refers to threats (i.e. damaging events 
which could lead to failure to achieve 
objectives and potentially have negative 
impacts), but to opportunities (i.e. 
challenges, which, if exploited, could 
offer an improved way of achieving 
the desired objectives). Risk exists as 
a consequence of uncertainty and is 
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present in all activities whatever the 
size or complexity of the organisation 
and whichever sector it operates in. 

Trustees consider risk management 
to be fundamental to good management 
practice and a significant aspect of 
corporate governance. Effective 
management of risk will provide an 
essential contribution towards the 
achievement of the charity’s strategic 
and operational objectives and goals. 
As such, the trustees have adopted 
a risk policy which requires among 
other things the trustees to review at 
least annually the principal risks and 
uncertainties it considers the charity to 
be exposed to. The identified risks are 
grouped into a number of categories 
including governance or management, 
operational, financial, environmental 
and external factors or legal and 
regulatory compliance. Each risk is 
assessed as to its impact and probability 
of occurring and given a score, which 
when combined is compared against a 
traffic light system with efforts being 
concentrated on any which show up 
as “red”. The review of risks includes 
ensuring that procedures are in place 
and are being followed, ensuring a 
consistent basis of measurement, 
controlling, monitoring and reporting 
risk, ensuring the effectiveness of 
the procedures and considering an 
adequate response (including action 
to be taken to tackle the identified 
risks). The aim is not to eliminate risk 
altogether, but rather to ensure that 
every effort is made to manage risk 
appropriately.

This work has identified a number 
of key risks and uncertainties as 
follows, along with ways in which they 
are mitigated. The top five risks are 
considered to be:
• Ongoing liabilities relating to 

Heythrop College, following its 
orderly teach-out and closure. 

• Falling numbers of Jesuits coming 
through formation, combined with 
the ageing of existing Jesuits. The 
main associated risk is that certain 
Works may have to be discontinued 
going forward. A Vocations Promoter, 
together with young adult spirituality 
events, help young adults discern 

whether they might have a religious 
vocation, including one within the 
Society of Jesus. Meanwhile, lay 
staff members have been appointed 
where appropriate, thus freeing 
Jesuits up for other work.

• Ongoing property commitments 
especially in respect of its churches 
and the Jesuit voluntary-aided 
schools, which continue to put 
a strain on limited resources. 
Government policy is also geared 
towards the establishment of 
Academies and the Province 
continues to discuss a number of 
options ready to implement in the 
next few years.

• Dependence on investment income. 
In order to generate more voluntary 
income, much work has been carried 
out in developing the website and 
moving towards the use of a single 
database (Customer Relationship 
Management system).  A review of 
the Work of the Development Office 
was commissioned towards the end 
of the financial year and is currently 
under consideration.

• Understanding of and compliance 
with various legislation relating to 
data protection, health and safety, 
employment issues, etc.

Equal Opportunities
The charity is committed to maintaining 
an equal opportunities policy for 
recruitment and employment. It 
respects the provisions against 
discrimination laid down by law and in 
the Catechism of the Catholic Church. 
No person will be discriminated 
against on the grounds of age, disability, 
gender reassignment, marriage and civil 
partnership, pregnancy and maternity, 
race (including colour, nationality and 
ethnic or national origins), religion or 
belief, sex and/or sexual orientation, 
allowing for what is justified by law 
or by the practices, rites, doctrines or 
ethos of the Roman Catholic Church.

In particular, the Society avoids 
unlawful discrimination in all aspects 
of employment including recruitment 
and selection, promotion, transfer, 
opportunities for training, pay and 
benefits, other terms of employment, 
discipline, and selection for redundancy 
and dismissal. 

Gender Pay
As a large charity, the Jesuits in Britain 
had to comply with a new legal 
requirement, which came into force last 
year, to publish information comparing 
what it pays to its male employees and 
its female employees. As at April 2018 
(when the data had to be taken), there 
were 346 employees, of whom 97 were 
male (28%) and 249 were female (72%). 
The findings were that the average pay 
for men was £16.99 per hour compared 
to the average pay for women which 
was £16.34 per hour, a differential of 
3.8%. This seems to be well below what 
is being reported elsewhere (about 
11% nationally), which indicates that 
the Charity’s pay rates are much fairer 
than elsewhere. However, the data is 
not on a job like for like basis and given 
how skewed the data is (there being 
so many more women than men), the 
data remains of limited benefit. The 
other main finding was that the middle-
placed (median) man is paid £14.13 
per hour which is 3.0% less than the 
middle-placed woman on £14.55 per 
hour, another indication that the data is 
skewed. Charities are also required to 
report proportions of men and women 
in each pay quartile. This showed that 
there are proportionately more women 
in the upper middle quartile, while 
there are fewer women in the other 
three quartiles. 

The results are not so different 
from those revealed in 2017, when the 
differential in the mean rate was at 3.7% 
and the median differential (in favour of 
female employees) was only 1.5%.

The Jesuits in Britain will keep these 
numbers under review (repeating the 
exercise every year) and take action, if 
it feels that it becomes necessary.

Other Pay
The charity is an accredited Living Wage 
employer. The Living Wage campaign is 
based on the simple idea that a hard 
day’s work deserves a fair day’s pay. 
We are pleased to be one of many 
responsible employers who choose to 
pay a real Living Wage based on the 
cost of living, not just the government 
minimum. The trustees recognise that in 
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low paid sectors a vicious cycle of high 
levels of staff turnover and absenteeism 
can drive problems of operational 
inefficiency, low standards and weak 
productivity. Organisations that pay the 
Living Wage have reported significant 
improvements in quality of work, 
reductions in staff absence and turnover, 
and a stronger corporate reputation. 

We also looked at the ratio 
between the highest paid employee 
and employees paid the UK Living 
Wage Foundation and found it to be 
under 6:1. According to the Equality 
Trust, Chief Executives in the UK’s 
top 100 companies are paid 386 times 
that of a worker earning the National 
Living Wage. The ratio for other large 
Charities (with income over £50m) has 
been reported as being of the order of 
10:1.

Key personnel and senior staff
The charity offers fair pay to attract 
and keep appropriately qualified and 
experienced staff with the necessary 
skills required to lead, manage, support 
and deliver the charity’s aims. There is 
no over-arching senior management 
team as such, but key personnel are 
appointed as Directors of Work for 
a number of our works, including the 
Heads of the two preparatory schools, 
Donhead and St John’s Beaumont, our 
spirituality centres, Jesuit Missions 
and the Jesuit Refugee Service, 
along with the Director of Finance 
and the Director of Development 
and Communications. The total 
remuneration, including all employer-
related costs of the ten individuals 
involved, including Jesuits was £588k for 
the year ended 30th September 2018 
[2017 - £575k].

Public Benefit
Public benefit is achieved in a variety 
of ways, as can be seen in the detail 
provided above. This includes, but is not 
limited to the following:
• service of parishes
• operation of schools and colleges of 

higher education; and provision of 
bursaries in the independent schools

• provision of university chaplaincy 
services

• social justice and the relief 
of poverty, working with the 
marginalised including the operation 
of British branch of the Jesuit 
Refugee Service 

• operation of spirituality centres, 
programmes and publications 
for spiritual education and other 
publishing and media (including free 
online resources); and

• the work of Jesuits overseas.

We have developed our plans 
to ensure that we continue to 
deliver public benefit and achieve 
our objectives set out in the Deeds 
and Declarations of Trust (listed 
above in Organisational Structure – 
Constitution). The trustees confirm that 
they have complied with the duty of the 
Charities Act 2011 and the Charities 
Act Scotland 2005 to have due regard 
to the Charity Commission’s and 
OSCR’s general guidance on public 
benefit. 

Volunteers
The work of the Jesuits in Britain would 
not be possible without the service of 
volunteers. Several of our works have 
management boards or editorial boards 
comprising expert lay people, who give 
their time to advise and support our 
Jesuit and lay staff at regular meetings 
throughout the year. Our Investment 
Committee and Safeguarding 
Commission have recruited expert 
members who also generously give 
their time to support our mission.

The role of volunteers is especially 
important in two of our main works, 
namely the Jesuit Refugee Service and 
Jesuit Missions. Their contribution is 
highlighted elsewhere in this report. 
Other Jesuit works, too, benefit from 
volunteer time, including for example 
our Archives Department, which 
benefitted from a total of 435 hours 
during the year from the volunteers, 
including 3 placements.

Our parishes all rely heavily on 
volunteers to assist in the ministry in 
many ways, from serving and reading 
at Mass to fundraising, finance and 
committees. Larger parishes have 
around 200 volunteers, smaller ones 
around 25.

The work carried out across the 
Charity also includes the efforts of 
the 100 plus Jesuits, although some 
are now no longer in active ministry. 
Nevertheless, they continue to pray for 
the work of the Society.  The Jesuits 
themselves take a vow of poverty so 
they take no salaries, royalties, fees 
or any other remuneration. Jesuits 
work as parish priests, chaplains, 
teachers, academics, writers, doctors, 
spiritual directors and artists.  Any 
remuneration received is gift-aided 
to the Society to further the work 
it does. Members receive in return 
only enough to live on and are looked 
after when they become sick, elderly 
or infirm. The value of work done on 
behalf of the Society is considerable 
and might be conservatively estimated 
at about £6m. The value of the work 
of others (i.e. non-Jesuit volunteers) 
is also significant with many working 
in the service of their parishes, the 
work of the Jesuit Refugee Service, as 
members of Management Boards and 
various committees, etc. A conservative 
estimate of this would be £0.5m to 
make a total of £6.5m. If included in the 
accounts, this would add approximately 
25% to the total income for the charity, 
which in 2017–2018 was £25.8m.



FINANCIAL SUMMARY

jesuit.org.uk 39

FINANCE AND ADMINISTRATION

Statement of the Trustees’ Responsibilities

The trustees are responsible for 
preparing the trustees’ report and the 
financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and the United Kingdom 
Accounting Standards (United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice).

The law applicable to charities in 
England, Wales and Scotland requires 
the trustees to prepare financial 
statements for each financial year which 
give a true and fair view of the state of 
affairs of the Trust and of the incoming 
resources and application of resources 
for that period. In preparing these 
financial statements, the trustees are 
required to:
• select suitable accounting policies 

and then apply them consistently

• observe the methods and principles 
in the Charities SORP

• make judgements and estimates that 
are reasonable and prudent

• state whether applicable accounting 
standards have been followed, 
subject to any material departures 
disclosed and explained in the 
financial statements and

• prepare the financial statements on 
the going concern basis unless it is 
inappropriate to presume that the 
Trust will continue in operation.

The trustees are responsible for 
keeping proper accounting records 
that disclose with reasonable accuracy 
the financial position of the Trust and 
enable them to ensure that the financial 

statements comply with the Charities 
Act 2011, the Charity (Accounts 
and Reports) Regulations 2008, the 
Charities Act of Scotland 2005 and 
the provisions of the Trust deeds. They 
are also responsible for safeguarding 
the assets of the Trust and for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention 
and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities.

The trustees are responsible for 
the maintenance and integrity of the 
Charity and financial information 
included on the Charity’s website. 
Legislation in the United Kingdom 
governing the preparation and 
dissemination of financial statements 
may differ from legislation in other 
jurisdictions.

Signed for and on behalf of Trustees for Roman Catholic Purposes Registered

D Howard SJ
Provincial 

Approved on 13 April 2019
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Independent auditors’ report to 
the Trustees of  The Society of Jesus Trust of 1929  

for Roman Catholic Purposes  
(incorporating The Society of Jesus Trust of 1921 

and The Society of Jesus Charitable Trust) 
(together ‘the Trust’)

Opinion
We have audited the financial 
statements of the Trust for the year 
ended 30 September 2018 which 
comprise the Statement of Financial 
Activities, the Balance Sheet, the Cash 
Flow Statement and related notes 
to the financial statements, including 
a summary of significant accounting 
policies. The financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in 
their preparation is applicable law and 
United Kingdom Accounting Standards, 
Financial Reporting Standard 102, the 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable 
in the UK and Republic of Ireland 
(United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice).

In our opinion, the financial statements:
• give a true and fair view of the 

state of the Trust’s affairs as at 30 
September 2018 and of the Trust’s 
net movement in funds for the year 
then ended;

• have been properly prepared in 
accordance with United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice; and

• have been prepared in accordance 
with the requirements of the 
Charities Act 2011 and the Charities 
and Trustee Investment (Scotland) 
Act 2005 and regulation 8 of the 
Charities Accounts (Scotland) 
Regulations 2006.

Basis for opinion
We have been appointed as auditor 
under section 144 of the Charities 
Act 2011 and section 44(1)(c) of the 
Charities and Trustee Investment 
(Scotland) Act 2005 and report in 
accordance with the Act and relevant 
regulations made or having effect 
thereunder. We conducted our audit 
in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs 
(UK)) and applicable law. Our 
responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the 
Trust in accordance with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our 
audit of the financial statements in 
the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical 
Standard, and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. 
We believe that the audit evidence 
we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.

Responsibilities of trustees for the 
financial statements
As explained more fully in the trustees’ 
responsibilities statement set out on 
page 39, the trustees are responsible 
for the preparation of the financial 
statements and for being satisfied that 
they give a true and fair view, and for 
such internal control as the trustees 
determine is necessary to enable the 

preparation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, 
the trustees are responsible for 
assessing the Trust’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the trustees 
either intend to liquidate the Trust or 
to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level 
of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance 
with ISAs (UK) will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud 
or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements.

A further description of our 
responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements is located on the 
Financial Reporting Council’s website at: 
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. 
This description forms part of our 
auditor’s report.
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Conclusions relating to  
going concern
We have nothing to report in respect 
of the following matters in relation 
to which the ISAs (UK) require us to 
report to you where:
• the trustees’ use of the going 

concern basis of accounting in 
the preparation of the financial 
statements is not appropriate; or

• the trustees have not disclosed in the 
financial statements any identified 
material uncertainties that may cast 
significant doubt about the Trust’s 
ability to continue to adopt the going 
concern basis of accounting for a 
period of at least twelve months 
from the date when the financial 
statements are authorised for issue.

Other information
The trustees are responsible for 
the other information. The other 
information comprises the information 
included in the Annual Review. Our 
opinion on the financial statements 
does not cover the other information 
and, except to the extent otherwise 
explicitly stated in our report, we do 
not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the 
financial statements, our responsibility 
is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent 

with the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or 
otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If we identify such material 
inconsistencies or apparent material 
misstatements, we are required to 
determine whether there is a material 
misstatement in the financial statements 
or a material misstatement of the other 
information. If, based on the work we 
have performed, we conclude that there 
is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report 
that fact.  We have nothing to report in 
this regard.

Matters on which we are required 
to report by exception 
We have nothing to report in respect 
of the following matters in relation 
to which the Charities (Accounts 
and Reports) Regulations 2008 and 
the Charities Accounts (Scotland) 
Regulations 2006 require us to report 
to you if, in our opinion:
• adequate accounting records have 

not been kept by the Trust; or
• sufficient accounting records have 

not been kept; or
• the Trust financial statements are not 

in agreement with the accounting 
records and returns; or

• we have not received all the 
information and explanations we 
require for our audit.

Use of our report
This report is made solely to the Trust’s 
members, as a body, in accordance with 
section 144 of the Charities Act 2011 
and regulations made under section 
154 of that Act, and section 44(1)(c) of 
the Charities and Trustee Investment 
(Scotland) Act 2005 and regulation 10 
of the Charities Accounts (Scotland) 
Regulations 2006. Our audit work has 
been undertaken so that we might state 
to the Trust’s trustees those matters 
we are required to state to them in 
an Auditor’s report and for no other 
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted 
by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than 
the Trust’s trustees as a body for our 
audit work, for this report, or for the 
opinions we have formed.

Haysmacintyre LLP
Statutory Auditors
10 Queen Street Place
London
EC4R 1AG

Haysmacintyre LLP is eligible to act as 
an auditor in terms of section 1212 of 
the Companies Act 2006
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Statement of financial activities –  Year to 30 September 2018

Note

Unrestricted
Funds

2018
£’000

Restricted
Funds

2018
£’000

Total
2018
£’000

Total
2017
£’000

Income from:

Donations and legacies 1 2,612 951 3,563 4,271

Charitable activities:

   School fees and other educational income 2 9,597  - 9,597 9,327

Other trading activities:

   Trading income 3 131  - 131 225

   Other activities for generating funds 4 142 8 150 529

Investments 5 8,267 3,487 11,754 11,803

Other 6 570  - 570 39,903

Total income 21,319 4,446 25,765 66,058

Expenditure on:

Raising funds 7 2,701 89 2,790 2,825

Charitable activities: 8

   Parish ministry 536 867 1,403 634

   Education 6,996 281 7,277 29,687

   Formation 3,558 787 4,345 4,157

   Social justice and the relief of poverty 2,443 20 2,463 751

   Care of infirm and elderly members 3,667  - 3,667 3,588

   Spirituality 1,971  - 1,971 2,065

   Work overseas 372 3,374 3,746 3,269

Total expenditure 22,244 5,418 27,662 46,976

Net income / (expenditure) before gains on 
investments

(925) (972) (1,897) 19,082 

Net gains on investments 13 35,249 12,312 47,561 37,882

Net income 34,324 11,340 45,664 56,964

Transfers between funds 18, 19 (133) 133  - - 

Net movement in funds 34,191 11,473 45,664 56,964

Reconciliation of funds:

Total funds brought forward 450,843 141,228 592,071 535,107

Total funds carried forward 485,034 152,701 637,735 592,071

The accompanying notes form part of these accounts. 

Details of comparative figures by fund are disclosed in note 28.

All operations are continuing.

Financial Statements
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Balance Sheet – as at 30 September 2018

Note
2018
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2017
£’000

Fixed assets:

Tangible assets 11  75,663  77,666

Investments 13 491,086 446,506

Total fixed assets 566,749 524,172

Current assets:

Stocks 39 56

Debtors:

  Amounts falling due after more than one year 14 3,216 58,273

  Amounts falling due within one year 14 51,421 5,119

54,637 63,392

Short term deposits 15 31,362 31,298

Cash at bank and in hand 14,902 8,227

Total current assets 100,940 102,973

Liabilities:

Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year 16 (27,861) (32,797)

Net current assets 73,079 70,176

Total assets less current liabilities 639,828 594,348

Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year 17 (2,093) (2,277)

Total net assets 637,735 592,071

Funds of the charity:

Restricted funds 18 152,701 141,228

Unrestricted funds: 19

  General fund 3,266 2,484

  Designated funds 20 481,768 448,359

Total unrestricted funds 485,034 450,843

Total charity funds 637,735 592,071

Approved by and authorised for issue and signed on behalf of Trustees for Roman Catholic Purposes Registered:

AS Power SJ
Trustee
Approved on:  13 April 2019

The accompanying notes form part of these accounts. 
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Cash Flow Statement – Year to 30 September 2018

Note
2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net cash outflow from operating activities A (8,563) (31,139)

Cash flows from investing activities:

Investment income received 11,754 11,803

Payments to acquire tangible fixed assets (1,290) (938)

Receipts from disposal of tangible fixed assets 2,056  - 

Payments to acquire fixed asset investments (91,562) (109,855)

Receipts from the disposal of fixed asset investments 94,763 111,517

Receipts from programme related investments  - 40,900

Net cash flow from investing activities 15,721 53,427

Cash flows from financing activities:

Issue of new long-term loan (235) (1,150)

Net cash flow from financing activities (235) (1,150)

Increase in cash and cash equivalents 6,923 21,138

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 October B 37,654 16,516

Cash and cash equivalents at 30 September B 44,577 37,654

A    Reconciliation of net income to net cash outflow  
       from operating activities 2016

£’000
2015
£’000

Net income for the reporting period 45,664 56,964

Adjustments for:

Depreciation charge 1,324 1,354

Net gains on disposal of tangible fixed assets (307)  - 

Investment income receivable (11,754) (11,803)

Net gains on disposal of investments (47,561) (37,882)

Decrease in stocks 17 3

Decrease / (Increase) in debtors 8,990 (59,379)

(Decrease) / Increase in creditors (4,936) 19,604

Net cash outflow from operating activities (8,563) (31,139)

B   Analysis of cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank and in hand 14,902 8,227

Short term deposits 31,362 31,298

46,264 39,525

Bank loans less than 1 year (195) (195)

Bank loans more than 1 year (1,492) (1,676)

Total cash and cash equivalents 44,577 37,654
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Accounting Policies

Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with the 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable 
in the UK and Republic of Ireland 
(FRS102) and the Statement of 
Recommended Practice applicable to 
charities preparing their accounts in 
accordance with the Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and 
Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) – effective  
1 January 2015. 

The functional currency of the 
charity is considered to be Pounds 
Sterling (GBP), being the currency of 
the primary economic environment in 
which the charity operates.

Going concern
Having reviewed the funding facilities 
available to the charity together with 
the charity’s future projected cash 
flows, the trustees have an expectation 
that the charity has adequate resources 
to continue its activities for the 
foreseeable future and consider that 
there were no material uncertainties 
over the charity’s financial viability. 
Accordingly, they also continue to adopt 
the going concern basis in preparing the 
financial statements as outlined in the 
trustees’ responsibilities statement. 

Critical accounting judgements 
and key sources of estimation 
uncertainty
In the application of the accounting 
policies, trustees are required to make 
judgements, estimates, and assumptions 
about the carrying value of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent 
from other sources. The estimates and 
underlying assumptions are based on 
historical experience and other factors 
that are considered to be relevant. 
Actual results may differ from these 
estimates. 

The estimates and underlying 
assumptions are reviewed on an 
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period 
in which the estimate is revised if the 
revision affects only that period, or in 
the period of the revision and future 
periods if the revision affected current 
and future periods.

Judgements made by the trustees, 
in the application of these accounting 
policies that have significant effect on 
the financial statements and estimates 
with a significant risk of material 
adjustment in the next year are deemed 
to be in relation to the depreciation 
rates of tangible fixed assets and are 
discussed below.

In the view of the trustees, no 
assumptions concerning the future 
or estimation uncertainty affecting 
assets or liabilities at the balance sheet 
date are likely to result in a material 
adjustment to their carrying amounts in 
the next financial year. 

Subsidiaries
The results of the Trust’s trading 
subsidiary, as set out in note 3, are 
incorporated directly into the Trust’s 
accounts.

Scope
The accounts generally do not include 
the operating accounts of parish 
churches in the charge of the Society 
of Jesus, as these are deemed to 
be managed as part of the relevant 
Diocesan Charity.  In the same way 
voluntary aided schools do not form 
part of these accounts in terms of their 
operations.  However, the property 
assets utilised by such bodies are in 
the ownership of the Trust and are 
therefore reflected within the Trust’s 
accounts.

Income
Income is recognised in the period 
where there is probability of receipt 
and the amount can be measured with 
reasonable certainty. 

Legacies are included in the statement 
of financial activities when the Trust is 
advised by the personal representative 
of an estate that payment will be made 
or property transferred and the amount 
involved can be quantified.

School fees consist of charges billed 
by the schools less bursaries and 
scholarships payable from unrestricted 
funds.

Expenditure
Expenditure comprises the following:
a. The cost of raising funds includes 

the expenses of the trading company, 
financing costs, fundraising costs, the 
fees paid to investment managers in 
connection with the management of 
the Trust’s listed investments, and the 
fees paid to property managers in 
connection with the management of 
the Trust’s investment properties.

b. The costs of charitable activities 
comprise expenditure on the Trust’s 
primary charitable purposes as 
described in the trustees’ report.

c. Grants in support of Jesuit 
foundations and projects are 
included in the statement of financial 
activities when approved and 
when the intended recipient has 
either received the funds or been 
informed of the decision to make 
the grant and has satisfied all related 
conditions. Grants approved but not 
paid at the end of the financial year 
are accrued for. Grants where the 
beneficiary has not been informed 
or has to meet certain conditions 
before the grant is released are not 
accrued for but are noted as financial 
commitments in the notes to the 
accounts.

 Support costs are apportioned based 
on the proportion of direct costs for 
each category.
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d. Governance costs comprise 
expenditure that is directly 
attributable to the necessary 
procedures for compliance with 
constitutional and statutory 
requirements.

Employee benefits 
Short term benefits including holiday 
pay are recognised as an expense in the 
period in which the service is received. 

Employee termination benefits are 
accounted for on an accrual basis and 
in line with FRS 102.

Foreign currencies
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign 
currencies are translated into sterling 
at the rates of exchange ruling at the 
balance sheet date. Transactions in 
foreign currencies are translated into 
sterling at the rate of exchange ruling 
at the date of the transaction. Exchange 
differences are taken into account in 
arriving at the net movement in funds.

Tangible fixed assets (other than 
Churches and Schools)
All assets costing more than £2,500 and 
with an expected life exceeding one 
year are capitalised.
• Land and buildings: Buildings are 

being depreciated over 50 years 
on a straight-line basis; and the 
land element of the building is not 
depreciated.

• Vehicles and equipment: Vehicles 
and equipment are stated at cost 
less a provision for depreciation. 
Depreciation is provided on cost 
over the following periods in order 
to write off each asset over its 
estimated useful life:

Equipment 4 years straight line
Vehicles 4 years straight line

Churches and schools 
The churches have belonged to the 
Trust for many years and details of 
their original cost are not available. All 
are functioning churches, and as such 
are neither readily marketable nor can 
be reliably valued. They are excluded 
from the balance sheet, as permitted by 
SORP 2005 paragraph 293.

Heritage assets
The Trust also holds works of art, book 
collections, and religious artefacts which 
currently serve the work of the Trust, 
but which have been excluded from 
the balance sheet. A market valuation 
for such assets is uncertain and, in any 
case, available only at an expense that 
appears to the Trustees to be out of 
proportion to any enhancement of the 
disclosure properly required in these 
accounts.

Investments
Investment properties are revalued 
at open market value annually on 30 
September by Youngs RPS, Chartered 
Surveyors. Listed investments are 
stated at market value.  Market value is 
obtained by taking the mid-market price 
at 30 September.

Realised and unrealised gains (or 
losses) are credited (or debited) to the 
Statement of Financial Activities in the 
year in which they arise.

Stock
Stock is measured at the lower of cost 
and net realisable value.

Debtors
Trade and other debtors are recognised 
at the settlement amount due after any 
trade discount offered.  Prepayments 
are valued at the amount prepaid net of 
any trade discounts due.

Liquid resources
Liquid resources are represented by 
short term deposits which require at 
least one day’s notice to be withdrawn 
without penalty.

Cash at bank and in hand
Cash at bank and cash in hand includes 
cash and short term highly liquid 
investments.

Creditors and provisions
Creditors and provisions are recognised 
where the charity has a present 
obligation resulting from a past event 
that will probably result in the transfer 
of funds to a third party and the 
amount due to settle the obligation 
can be measured or estimated reliably. 
Creditors and provisions are normally 
recognised at their settlement amount 
after allowing for any trade discounts 
due.

Pension costs
Contributions to employees’ personal 
pension defined contribution schemes 
are recognised in the statement of 
financial activities in the year in which 
they are payable to the scheme.

The Trust’s independent schools 
make contributions to the Teachers’ 
Pension Scheme, which is a defined 
benefit scheme.  The scheme is a 
multi-employer pension scheme and 
it is not possible to identify the assets 
and liabilities of the scheme which are 
attributable to the charity.

Fund accounting
The restricted funds are monies raised 
for, and their use restricted to, a specific 
purpose, or donations subject to donor 
imposed conditions.

The designated funds are monies 
set aside out of general funds and 
designated for specific purposes by the 
trustees.

The general fund comprises those 
monies which may be used towards 
meeting the charitable objectives of the 
Society at the discretion of the Trustees.

Financial instruments
Basic financial instruments are initially 
recognised at transaction value and 
subsequently measured at amortised 
with the exception of investments 
which are held at fair value. Financial 
assets held amortised cost comprise 
cash at bank and in hand, together with 
trade and other debtors. A specific 
provision is made for debts for which 
recoverability is in doubt. Cash at bank 
and in hand is defined as all cash held in 
instant access bank accounts and used 
as working capital. Financial liabilities 
held at amortised cost comprise all 
creditors except social security and 
other taxes and provisions.  
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1  Donations and legacies Unrestricted
Funds
£’000

Restricted
Funds
£’000

Total
2018
£’000

Total
2017
£’000

Donations and gifts 1,665 800 2,465 2,661

Legacies 188 139 327 850

Grants received 192  - 192 210

Covenanted salaries and pensions (see below) 567 12 579 550

2,612 951 3,563 4,271

Covenanted salaries and pensions represent salaries and pensions of members of the Society payable to the Trust 
under deeds of covenant or Gift aid declarations.

2  School fees and other educational income
Unrestricted

Funds
£’000

Restricted
Funds
£’000

Total
2018
£’000

Total
2017
£’000

Gross school fees receivable 9,941  - 9,941 9,655

Less: Total bursaries, grants and allocations (477)  - (477) (455)

Net school fees receivable 9,464  - 9,464 9,200

School activities and trips 133  - 133 127

9,597  - 9,597 9,327

3  Trading income 2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Trading income 33 58

Income from trading subsidiary 98 167

131 225

The Trust has one wholly owned trading subsidiary St John’s Beaumont Development Company Limited which is 
incorporated in England and Wales (Registration number 03355298).  This company exists principally to hire out the 
leisure and conference facilities at one of the Trust’s two schools.  A summary of its trading results is shown below.  
Audited accounts have been filed with the Registrar of Companies.

2018
£’000

2017
£’000St John’s Beaumont Development Company Limited

Turnover 98 167

Cost of sales (8) (32)

Gross profit 90 135

Administrative costs (84) (104)

Net profit 6 31

Gift aid (6) (31)

Net assets at 30 September  -  - 

All profits generated by the company are gift-aided to the charity.
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5  Investment (income) Total
2018
£’000

Total
2017
£’000

Listed investments

  Fixed interest stock  - 732

  Equities

    UK 2,643 3,021

    Europe 969 1,126

    North America 2,830 2,503

    Other 922 581

7,364 7,963

Interest receivable 379 247

Rental income 2,182 2,042

Property funds 1,829 1,551

11,754 11,803

All rental income is generated from investment properties within the United Kingdom and all interest is from United 
Kingdom loans and deposits. Property fund income represents dividends received from money held in Property Fund 
Income units.

6  Other income Total
2018
£’000

Total
2017
£’000

Net gains on sale of tangible fixed assets 307  - 

Net gains on sale of programme related investment  - 39,704

Other educational income 164 108

Sundry income 99 91

570 39,903

The net gain on the sale of the programme related investment in 2016-2017 relates to the sale of the Kensington 
Square site of Heythrop College, which has now closed.

4  Other activities for generating funds
Unrestricted

Funds
£’000

Restricted
Funds
£’000

Total
2018
£’000

Total
2017
£’000

Sale of publications 68  - 68 62

Lettings of functional properties 65  - 65 88

Miscellaneous 9  8 17 379

142  8 150 529



8a  Support costs
General 
Admin.

£’000
Premises

£’000
Other
£’000

Total
2018
£’000

Total
2017
£’000

Parish ministry  153 168  15 336 527

Education 1,947 1,932 1,131 5,010 4,607

Formation 534 265 1,258 2,057 1,775

Social justice and the relief of poverty 147 131 366 644 433

Care of infirm and elderly members 683 325  - 1,008 765

Spirituality 414 500 222 1,136 1,212

Work overseas 214 100 154 468 449

4,092 3,421 3,146 10,659 9,768

General administration includes costs which are incurred directly in undertaking the activity. Central costs (31%) 
which are not separately identifiable as belonging to a particular activity are allocated on a pro rata basis to total 
activity costs. Premises costs include building maintenance, insurance, utilities and depreciation. Costs relating to 
common buildings (23%) are allocated on a pro rata basis to total activity costs. Other costs including welfare 
and catering, are allocated directly to the activities for which they relate. Common costs (89%) which are not 
separately identifiable as belonging to a particular activity are allocated on a pro rata basis to total activity costs.

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

7  Raising funds Unrestricted
Funds
£’000

Restricted
Funds
£’000

Total
2018
£’000

Total
2017
£’000

Trading expenses 131 19 150 177

Financing costs 82  - 82 82

Estate management fees 116  - 116 128

Premises costs for investment property 223  - 223 234

Investment management fees 1,760  - 1,760 1,743

Fundraising costs 366 70 436 439

Legal and professional fees 23  - 23 22

2,701 89 2,790 2,825

8  Charitable activities
Direct Costs

£’000

Support
Costs
£’000

Grants
£’000

Total
2018
£’000

Total
2017
£’000

Parish ministry 28 336 1,039 1,403 634

Education 4,883 5,010 (2,616) 7,277 29,687

Formation  - 2,057 2,288 4,345 4,157

Social justice and the relief of poverty  - 644 1,819 2,463 751

Care of infirm and elderly members 2,659 1,008  - 3,667 3,588

Spirituality 784 1,136 51 1,971 2,065

Work overseas 286 468 2,992 3,746 3,269

8,640 10,659 5,573 24,872 44,151

note 8a note 8b

Included within costs of charitable activities are governance cost of £70,368 (2017 – £59,775) which include fees to 
trust auditors of £33,400 (2017 – £33,100), school auditors of £28,050 (2017 – £19,925) and trustees’ indemnity 
insurance premium of £8,918 (2017 – £6,750).
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8b  Grants

£’000
2018
£’000 £’000

2017
£’000

Parish ministry

Various Jesuit-led Parishes 1,039 91

1,039 91

Education

Heythrop College (3,892) 18,677

St Ignatius College, Enfield 582 1,528

Other grants 694 26

(2,616) 20,231

Formation

Worldwide Society 718 676

Other Jesuit Provinces 1,560 687

Catholic Trust for England & Wales  - 800

Other 10 219

2,288 2,382

Social justice and the relief of poverty

Jesuit Charitable and Apostolic fund 1,500  - 

Grants to groups 258 86

Grants to individuals 61 232

1,819 318

Spirituality

Grants to groups / individuals 51 46

51 46

Work overseas

Zimbabwe Province, Society of Jesus 1,488 586

Guyana Region, Society of Jesus 524 591

South Africa Region, Society of Jesus 536 328

Harare Diocese, Zimbabwe 118 114

Other Jesuit Provinces 9 74

Other various grants overseas 317 839

2,992 2,532

Total grants payable 5,573 25,600

The negative grant above (shown against Heythrop College under Education) follows a reassessment at the end of 
the year of the closing liabilities of Heythrop College. The College has now closed in an orderly fashion.
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9  Staff costs and trustees’ remuneration and costs

9a  Staff costs Total
2018
£’000

Total
2017
£’000

Wages and salaries 8,299 7,514

Termination payments 28 1

Social security costs 804 732

Pension contributions 705 629

9,836 8,876

Total employment costs of key management personnel (included above) 588 575

2018
Number of 
employees

2017
Number of
employees

Teaching staff 139 127

Administration and domestic staff 221 205

360 332

The number of employees who earned £60,000 per annum or more (including taxable benefits but excluding 
employer’s pension contributions) during the year was as follows:

2018 2017

£60,001 - £70,000 2 3

£70,001 - £80,000 2 1

£80,001 - £90,000 2 2

£90,001 - £100,000  -  - 

£100,000 + 1 1

Pension contributions are paid in respect of the seven employees above, who are paid in excess of £60,000. In 
respect of two of the employees, contributions are made into the Teachers’ Superannuation Scheme, a defined 
benefit scheme. In the case of the other five employees, contributions are made into a defined contribution 
scheme. The total contributions made were £29,490 (2017 - £39,007) into the Teachers’ Superannuation Scheme 
and £28,859 (2017 - £22,279) into the defined contribution scheme.

9b  Trustees’ remuneration and costs

As members of the Society, the trustees’ living and personal expenses during the year were borne by the Trust. 
There were no meeting expenses incurred this year (2017 - Nil). No remuneration for services were paid to the 
trustees (2017 - Nil). 
With authority from the Charity Commission, the Trust has purchased insurance to protect the Trust from any 
loss arising from the neglect or defaults of its trustees, employees and agents and to indemnify the trustees or 
other officers against the consequences of any neglect or default on their part.  The insurance premium paid by 
the charity during the year totalled £8,918 (2017 - £6,750) and provides cover of up to a maximum of £5 million 
(2017 - £5 million).
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10  Taxation

The 1921 and 1929 Trusts of the Society of Jesus in Great Britain and the Society of Jesus Charitable Trust are 
registered charities and are not liable for income tax or capital gains tax on income and gains derived from their 
charitable activities, as they fall within the various exemptions available to registered charities.

11  Tangible fixed assets Freehold
Functional

Land and
Buildings

£’000

Vehicles
and

Equipment
£’000

Total
£’000

At cost or valuation

At 1 October 2017 91,773 2,792 94,565

Additions at cost 320 970 1,290

Disposals (2,385) (29) (2,414)

At 30 September 2018 89,708 3,733 93,441

Depreciation

At 1 October 2017 15,209 1,690 16,899

Charge for the year 1,062 262 1,324

Disposals (419) (26) (445)

At 30 September 2018 15,852 1,926 17,778

Net book value

At 30 September 2018 73,856 1,807 75,663

At 30 September 2017 76,564 1,102 77,666

The Trustees believe that the carrying value of the freehold land and buildings at 30 September 2018 is an estimate 
of the current value of the assets.  A full valuation of freehold property assets (excluding heritage assets) was 
undertaken by Stanton Mortimer providing a valuation as at 30 September 2001 on the basis of depreciated 
replacement cost.  During the year, the Trustees reviewed this valuation and considered it to be still appropriate. 

Historic costs of all of the properties are not readily available.  Where they are not available, historic costs 
have been taken as nil for the purposes of calculating the gains shown.  All other assets are stated at cost less a 
provision for depreciation.
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12  Churches

The Trust is the legal owner of the following properties which are not valued for the purposes of these accounts.

Boscombe 
Edinburgh 
Mayfair, London 
Manchester 
Preston 
Stamford Hill, London 
Wimbledon, London 
Sheffield 
Hurst Green, Lancashire

Corpus Christi Church
Sacred Heart Church
Farm Street Church
Holy Name Church
St Wilfrid’s Church, Presbytery and Parish Hall
St Ignatius Church
Sacred Heart Church
Church of the Immaculate Conception (Spinkhill)
St Peter’s Church (Stonyhurst)

The churches have belonged to the Trust for many years and details of their original cost are not available. All 
are functioning churches and as such are neither readily marketable nor can be reliably valued and are therefore 
excluded from the balance sheet.

The Trust also holds works of art, book collections and religious artefacts which currently serve the work of the 
Trust, but which have been excluded from the balance sheet.  A market valuation for such assets is uncertain and, 
in any case, available only at an expense that appears to the Trustees to be out of proportion to any enhancement 
of the disclosure properly required in these accounts.

The properties in total (including investment properties) are currently insured for a value of £502.8m, while the 
net book value of these properties held by the Society at the year end was £122.1m.

13  Investments Total
2018
£’000

Total
2017
£’000

Market value at 1 October 446,506 410,286

Less: disposal proceeds (79,735) (105,178)

Add:  additions at cost 91,562 109,855

Net other movements (14,808) (6,339)

Net investment gains 47,561 37,882

Market value at 30 September 491,086 446,506

Investments held at 30 September comprised the following:

Listed investments:

Equities

  UK 131,708 143,655

  Europe 56,498 59,094

  North America 154,142 124,035

  Other 50,420 25,001

392,768 351,785

Property Fund units 42,018 35,038

Market value of listed investments 434,786 386,823

UK investment properties 48,286 46,647

Cash balances held by investment managers 8,014 13,036

491,086 446,506
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14  Debtors Total
2018
£’000

Total
2017
£’000

Amounts falling due after more than one year

Long-term loan (see below) 3,165 2,930

Other debtors (see below) 51 55,343

3,216 58,273

Amount falling due within one year

School fees and other educational services 98 73

Accrued investment income 20 69

Prepayments and accrued income 655 456

Other debtors (see below) 50,648 4,521

51,421 5,119

     Total debtors 54,637 63,392

A further loan of £235,000 was made during the year to Mount St Mary’s College (a school transferred to a 
separate trust in 2007). This loan, now at £3,165,000 is repayable over a 15 year period on a quarterly basis with 
the first instalment beginning 30 November 2019. The loan will incur interest at 1.5% points above base rate and is 
due for repayment by 31 May 2034. The loan is secured by a first legal mortgage over the freehold property of the 
College.

Other debtors also includes the deferred payments owed to the Society by the purchaser of the programme 
related investment property at Kensington Square, London, the former site of Heythrop College. The Society has a 
charge over the property as security.

15  Short Term Deposits Total
2018
£’000

Total
2017
£’000

Short term deposits 31,362 31,298

16  Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year Total
2018
£’000

Total
2017
£’000

Bank overdrafts and loans 195 195

School fees and other educational charges 1,219 1,117

Taxation and social security 165 152

Held on behalf of other Jesuit Provinces and projects 8,373 8,014

Grants committed (see below) 15,601 21,292

Expense creditors, accruals and other 2,308 2,027

27,861 32,797

Grants committed include grants to Heythrop College to ensure a smooth teach-out and closure, including 
amounts to cover redundancy costs and pension liabilities. These were reassessed at the end of the year.
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17  Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year Total
2018
£’000

Total
2017
£’000

Bank loans (see below)

  Due within two to five years 781 781

  Due after more than five years 711 895

1,492 1,676

School fees and other educational charges 601 601

2,093 2,277

Donhead School has two HSBC bank loans. The first loan was taken out in 2011 for £800,000 at an interest rate 
of 2% points above base rate. By the end of the year, £431,617 (2017: £488,355) was outstanding. The loan will 
be fully repaid by November 2025. The second loan was also in respect of building works. By the end of the year, 
£1,255,798 (2017: £1,382,939) was outstanding. The loan will incur interest at 2.1% points above base rate and is 
due for repayment by 2029.

The loans are secured by a first legal mortgage over the freehold property and by a guarantee of £240,000 given by 
the Trustees for Roman Catholic Purposes Registered to HSBC Bank. 

18   Restricted funds At
1 Oct
2017
£’000

Income
£’000

Expenditure
£’000

Gains / 
(losses)

£’000

Transfers 
between 

funds
£’000

At
30 Sept

2018
£’000

Beaumont Educational Trust 283 8  - (3)  - 288

Guyana 14,314 381 (524) 1,313 48 15,532

Harare 13,472 420 (118) 1,137  - 14,911

Mission funds 3,388 790 (911)  - 117 3,384

South Africa 13,205 367 (536) 1,215  - 14,251

Von Hugel 5  -  -  -  - 5

Young Priests (Osterley) 57,340 1,462 (936) 5,158 (32) 62,992

Zimbabwe 38,327 994 (1,488) 3,498  - 41,331

Other restricted funds 894 24 (905) (6)  - 7

141,228 4,446 (5,418) 12,312 133 152,701
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Restricted funds are subject to specific conditions imposed by the donors. 

	The Beaumont Educational Trust exists to provide financial assistance for the education of boys and young 
men, especially those who have a connection with the former Beaumont College, a Jesuit establishment. It is 
a separate charity, registered no. 309142, the trustees of which are Trustees for Roman Catholic Purposes 
Registered. 

	The Guyana, South Africa and Zimbabwe funds exist to support the works of these Regions of the Society 
of Jesus. These are for the purposes of education, the relief of poverty and the promotion of religion.

	The Harare fund exists to support the works of the Roman Catholic archdiocese of Harare in the 
Zimbabwe region of the Society of Jesus. This is for the purposes of education, the relief of poverty and the 
promotion of religion.

	Mission funds promote missionary works in overseas countries by making grants to Christian missions, 
especially those of the Society of Jesus.

	The Von Hugel fund exists for the advancement of the Roman Catholic religion in the area of the Roman 
Catholic parishes of Boscombe and Iford near Bournemouth. These funds were part of a separate charity, 
registered no. 278966, but are now subject to a Uniting Direction and the charity is therefore accounted for 
as part of the Society of Jesus.

	The Young Priests (Osterley) fund exists to encourage and support candidates for priesthood.

	Other restricted funds represent one-off donations given for a number of specific purposes.

19  Unrestricted Funds

At
1 Oct
2017
£’000

Income
£’000

Expenditure
£’000

Gains/
(Losses)

£’000

Transfers 
between 

funds
£’000

At
30 Sept

2018
£’000

General funds 2,484  401 (4,276)  4,657  - 3,266

Designated funds (note 20) 448,359 20,918 (17,968) 30,592 (133) 481,768

450,843 21,319 (22,244) 35,249 (133) 485,034

18   Restricted funds (continued)
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20  Designated funds

Included within the unrestricted funds are designated funds totalling £481,768,000.  These are amounts which have 
been set aside for specific purposes by the trustees and are as follows:

At
1 Oct
2017
£’000

Income
£’000

Expenditure
£’000

Gains/
(Losses)

£’000

Transfers 
between 

funds
£’000

At
30 Sept

2018
£’000

Foundations 39,525 926 (1,544) 3,874  32 42,813

Apostolic Works 89,086 1,672 (1,677) 5,357  - 94,438

Formation 135,317 2,497 (2,120) 11,123  - 146,817

Old Age 76,449 2,368 (2,728) 6,646 (48) 82,687

Bellarmine 63,615 679 2,057 2,003  - 68,354

Personnel support and training 9,317 216 (73) 751  - 10,211

Jesuit Development 817 17 (16) 54  - 872

Jesuit Communities 16,916  32 (293)  -  - 16,655

Local Trusts 2,314 10  -  -  - 2,324

Other educational funds 12,469 12,016 (10,990)  - (117) 13,378

Society of Jesus Charitable Trust 
(1990 Trust)

364 485 (584) 784  - 1,049

Allocated investment gains 2,170  -  -  -  - 2,170

448,359 20,918 (17,968) 30,592 (133) 481,768

	The Foundations fund is for the establishment of new work and the support of works that cannot fully fund 
themselves. This support may be for capital building projects or for supplementing the income of already 
operational projects.

	The Apostolic Works fund is used to promote and support the works of the Jesuits in Britain.

	The Formation fund exists for the education and training of members of the Jesuits in Britain and the 
Worldwide Society.

	The Old Age fund is for the care of the elderly and sick members of the Jesuits in Britain.

	The Bellarmine Fund has been used in recent years primarily for the support of Heythrop College, although 
it was not designated solely for that purpose, being for other similar theological educational activities. It is 
being used to support the Heythrop Library and other follow-on legacy work.

	The Personnel support and training fund exists to develop and train lay people who have shown 
commitment to the work of the trust, especially in Ignatian formation.

	The Jesuit Development fund receives a small number of covenanted donations for various projects of the 
Jesuits in Britain.

	The Jesuit Communities fund represents the net book value of freehold land and building used by our 
various communities.

	The Local Trusts fund has been established to provide for the intended endowment of two independent 
schools.

	Other educational funds are used for school and other educational activities.

	The Society of Jesus Charitable Trust fund exists to further the promotion of charitable work for the time 
being carried out by the Society of Jesus. This usually consists of making grants for the promotion of religion 
and educational purposes.

	The allocated investment gains fund was created in 2012-2013 for those Jesuit Works which hold investment 
funds in order to stabilise their income from year to year, avoiding undue volatility in the existing markets 
and ensuring Works’ continued operations in such time.
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21  Analysis of Net Assets between funds Unrestricted Funds

Restricted
Funds
£’000

Total
2018
£’000

General
Funds
£’000

Designated
Funds
£’000

Fund balances at 30 September are represented by:

Tangible fixed assets  - 75,660 3 75,663

Investments  - 336,401 154,685 491,086

Net current assets 3,266 71,800 (1,987) 73,079

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year  - (2,093)  - (2,093)

Total net assets 3,266 481,768 152,701 637,735

Prior year analysis of Net Assets between funds Unrestricted Funds

Restricted
Funds
£’000

Total
2017
£’000

General
Funds
£’000

Designated
Funds
£’000

Fund balances at 30 September are represented by:

Tangible fixed assets  - 77,661 5 77,666

Investments  - 303,250 143,256 446,506

Net current assets 2,484 69,725 (2,033) 70,176

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year  - (2,277)  - (2,277)

Total net assets 2,484 448,359 141,228 592,071

22  Pension commitments

Retirement benefits for teaching staff of the Trust are provided by defined benefit schemes which are funded by 
contributions from the Society’s schools and the employees to the Teachers’ Pension Scheme (“the TPS”). 

Contributions to the defined benefit schemes are charged in the Statement of Financial Activities so as to spread 
the cost of the pensions over the employees’ working lives with the schools. This amounted to  £390,063  
(2017 - £384,216) payable to the TPS.

The employer contribution rate is set following scheme valuations undertaken by the Government Actuary’s 
Department. The latest actuarial valuation of the TPS was prepared as at 31 March 2012 and the valuation report, 
which was published in June 2014, confirmed an employer contribution rate for the TPS of 16.4% from  
1 September 2016. Employers are also required to pay a scheme administration levy of 0.08% giving a total 
employer contribution rate of 16.48%.

In October 2018, HM Treasury publised a written Ministerial Statement about the valuation of public sector 
pension schemes, including the Teacher Pension Scheme. These announcements could mean an increase to 
employer contributions to more than 23% with effect from September 2019.

The Society of Jesus Trust also makes contributions to defined contribution schemes for the benefit of its 
employees. This amounted to £315,145 (2017 - £229,017).
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24  Financial commitments Total
2018
£’000

Total
2017
£’000

The total commitments in respect of operating leases are as follows:

Due within one year 51 61

Due within two to five years 44 85

95 146

25  Capital commitments

Capital commitments at the end of the year were £78,000 (2017 - Nil). This relates to the refurbishment at  
St John's Beaumont School.

26  Contingent assets

Contingent assets have arisen from the transfers of schools to separate charitable assets.

On 1 September 2009 Stonyhurst College and its trading subsidiary Stonyhurst College Development Limited 
were transferred to a separate charitable trust. Included in the transfer were buildings valued at £18,100,000, 
a £4,000,000 transfer of restricted funds and a £21,700,000 cash transfer. This cash transfer was made with a 
condition that £16,000,000 remains in the Balance Sheet of Stonyhurst New Trust and is a contingent asset 
repayable to The Society of Jesus if the activities of Stonyhurst College change. 

£1,800,000 is also held by Mount St Mary’s College (a school transferred to a separate trust in 2007) and is 
repayable to The Society of Jesus in certain circumstances, such as closure.

27  Ultimate control

The Declaration of Trust dated 20 March 1929 provides that new trustees shall be appointed by resolution of the 
existing trustees and therefore, in the opinion of the trustees, the trustees are the ultimate controlling party.  

23 Connected charities and related parties

The Trustees for Roman Catholic Purposes Registered is also the trustee for the Society of Jesus Charitable Trust 
(1990 Trust - registered charity no. 803659).

The 1990 Trust uses the same principal office and has objects similar to many of those of the 1921 and 1929 Trusts.  
It is funded from the 1921 and 1929 Trusts by loans, and the amount due from the 1990 Trust at 30 September is  
£28,082,055 (2017 - £27,937,012).



60 Jesuits Annual Review 2017–2018

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

28  Prior year comparatives by fund Unrestricted
Funds

2017
£’000

Restricted
Funds

2017
£’000

Total
2017
£’000

Income from:

Donations and legacies 3,211 1,060 4,271

Charitable activities:

   School fees and other educational income 9,327  - 9,327

Other trading activities:

     Trading income 225  - 225

     Other activities for generating funds 520  9 529

Investments 8,404 3,399 11,803

Other 39,903  - 39,903

Total income 61,590 4,468 66,058

Expenditure on:

Raising funds 2,768 57 2,825

Charitable activities:

   Parish ministry 634  - 634

   Education 29,647 40 29,687

   Formation 2,987 1,170 4,157

   Social justice and the relief of poverty 751  - 751

   Care of infirm and elderly members 3,588  - 3,588

   Spirituality 2,065  - 2,065

  Work overseas 407 2,862 3,269

Total expenditure 42,847 4,129 46,976

Net income/(expenditure) before gains on investments 18,743 339 19,082 

Net gains on investments 27,514 10,368 37,882

Net income 46,257 10,707 56,964

Transfers between funds (105) 105  - 

Net movement in funds 46,152 10,812 56,964

Reconciliation of funds:

Total funds brought forward 404,691 130,416 535,107

Total funds carried forward 450,843 141,228 592,071
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29   Prior year summary of movement in funds

Restricted funds At
1 Oct
2016
£’000

Income
£’000

Expenditure
£’000

Gains/
(Losses)

£’000

Transfers 
between 

funds
£’000

At
30 Sept

2017
£’000

Beaumont Educational Trust 275 8 (7) 7  - 283

Guyana 13,394 361 (592) 1,103 48 14,314

Harare 12,179 453 (115) 955  - 13,472

Mission funds 3,713 899 (1,281)  - 57 3,388

South Africa 12,195 341 (352) 1,021  - 13,205

Von Hugel 5  -  -  -  - 5

Young Priests (Osterley) 52,572 1,422 (984) 4,330  - 57,340

Zimbabwe 35,218 961 (789) 2,937  - 38,327

Other restricted funds 865 23 (9) 15  - 894

130,416 4,468 (4,129) 10,368 105 141,228

Unrestricted Funds At
1 Oct
2016
£’000

Income
£’000

Expenditure
£’000

Gains/
(Losses)

£’000

Transfers 
between 

funds
£’000

At
30 Sept

2017
£’000

General funds 1,474  1,207 (4,197)  4,000  - 2,484

Designated funds 403,217 60,383 (38,650) 23,514 (105) 448,359

404,691 61,590 (42,847) 27,514 (105) 450,843

Designated funds At
1 Oct
2016
£’000

Income
£’000

Expenditure
£’000

Gains/
(Losses)

£’000

Transfers 
between 

funds
£’000

At
30 Sept

2017
£’000

Foundations 37,817 878 (2,418) 3,248  - 39,525

Apostolic Works 84,691 1,474 (1,559) 4,480  - 89,086

Formation 125,473 2,421 (1,893) 9,316  - 135,317

Old Age 71,387 2,426 (2,636) 5,320 (48) 76,449

Bellarmine 41,805 40,016 (18,717) 511  - 63,615

Personnel support and training 8,503 208 (25) 631  - 9,317

Jesuit Development 769 16 (14) 46  - 817

Jesuit Communities 17,177  - (261)  -  - 16,916

Local Trusts 2,309 5  -  -  - 2,314

Other educational funds 11,084 12,035 (10,593)  - (57) 12,469

Society of Jesus Charitable Trust 
(1990 Trust)

32 904 (534) (38)  - 364

Allocated investment gains 2,170  -  -  -  - 2,170

403,217 60,383 (38,650) 23,514 (105) 448,359
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